COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between

The Huron University College Faculty Association ('HUCFA')

and

Huron University College Board of Governors (the 'Employer')

DURATION: MAY 1, 2023 TO APRIL 30, 2027

Table of Contents

1	PREAMBLE	3
2	GENERAL MATTERS	3
3	WORKLOAD AND CONDITIONS FOR LIMITED-TERM, PROBATIONARY TENURE-TRACK, AND TENURED FACULTY MEMBERS	8
4	TEACHING WORKLOAD FOR FULL-TIME, LIMITED TERM, TENURE STREAM FACULTY	9
5	SERVICE FOR FULL-TIME, LIMITED TERM, TENURE STREAM FACULTY	10
6	SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES WORKLOAD, AND SABBATICAL LEAVES	12
7	REDUCED TEACHING FOR TENURED FACULTY	14
8	WORKLOAD AND CONDITIONS FOR PROGRAM SESSIONAL AND PER COURSE CONTRACT APPOINTEES	14
9	PROGRAM SESSIONAL APPOINTMENTS	16
10	PER-COURSE CONTRACT ACADEMIC STAFF	18
11	FACULTY SALARIES	20
12	RESEARCH AND CONFERENCE EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT FUNDS	31
13	PERFORMANCE AND SALARY PROCESS	31
14	BENEFITS	32
15	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION	36
16	GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	37
17	FINANCIAL EXIGENCY	39
18	REDEPLOYMENT AS A RESULT OF THE CLOSURE OR RESTRUCTURING OF ACADEMIC UNITS	44
SIC	GNATURE PAGE	50
	PENDIX A – HURON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS DLICY	51
ΑP	PENDIX B – HURON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE ACADEMIC FREEDOM POLICY	55
ΑP	PENDIX C – STANDARDS DOCUMENT	56
	PENDIX D – SALARY LEVEL OF NEW PROBATIONARY, TENURED AND LTA CULTY – EXPERIENCE CREDITS	64
ME	EMORANDUMS OF UNDERSTANDING	65

1 PREAMBLE

- 1.1 The Agreement is of four (4) years' duration, May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2027. It includes agreements on workloads and on salaries and benefits, as well as appendices on intellectual property and on academic freedom.
- 1.2 All policies or documents to which reference is made in the Agreement will be included as appendices to the Agreement.
- 1.3 HUCFA and the Employer mutually recognize each other as having the exclusive authority to negotiate and enter into this Agreement and other agreements that may be negotiated from time to time between the employer and the employees of Huron University College who hold an academic appointment.
- 1.4 Neither the employer nor HUCFA shall introduce, implement, or enforce any policy that is inconsistent with or violates this Agreement.
- 1.5 The terms 'member' and 'HUCFA member' apply to all members of the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement.

2 **GENERAL MATTERS**

2.1 Collegial Governance and Management Rights

Collegial Governance

Collegial governance is essential to the Mission of Huron University College, and is a necessary element in the strategy to realize the Vision for Huron University College. The parties acknowledge the existing rights, privileges, and responsibilities of Faculty Members to participate in the governance of Huron University College.

Management Rights

Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, HUCFA acknowledges the right of the Employer to operate and manage the University College and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, to exercise all the powers, authorities, rights, privileges and obligations conferred on the Employer by the *Huron University College Act*, 2020, as amended.

The Employer agrees that it shall exercise these powers, authorities, rights, privileges and obligations in a manner which is not arbitrary, unreasonable or inconsistent with this Collective Agreement.

2.2 Non-Discrimination

The Employer and HUCFA agree that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised with respect to any member in regard to any matter including salaries, rank, appointment, promotion, tenure, reappointment, dismissal, sabbatical leave, employee benefits, or any other terms and conditions of employment. This does not apply where such

distinction, exclusion, limitation, or protection meets the criteria of a bona fide occupational requirement, in which case the parties recognize their duty to accommodate.

The Employer and HUCFA recognize their respective responsibilities to provide a workplace free from discrimination. No discrimination, interference, restriction or coercion shall be exercised against, or by a member, in the course of carrying out their responsibilities as outlined in this Agreement, by reason of physical or mental disability, (whether perceived or actual, temporary or permanent, acknowledging the employer's duty to accommodate, and provided that such condition does not interfere with the fulfillment of the member's responsibilities), race, creed, colour, ancestry, citizenship (except for new appointments as provided by law), ethnic or national origin, political or religious affiliation, belief or practice, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, family status, age, or membership or activity in an academic staff association, place of residence (except where place of residence interferes with the fulfillment of the member's responsibilities).

This Article shall be interpreted in accordance with <u>Appendix B</u> on Academic Freedom in this Agreement, the *Ontario Human Rights Code*, and the Employer's policy on Harassment, Sexual Harassment, Racism and Discrimination Prevention. The policy on Academic Freedom appended to this Collective Agreement sets out members' academic freedom rights. This policy forms part of this Collective Agreement. It is understood that violation of this Article would be subject to grievance procedure.

2.3 Information Disclosure

The Parties agree that openness and transparency are important for collegiality and accountability. Effective collective bargaining and the proper administration of the Collective Agreement can best be realized if both HUCFA and the Employer have access to necessary information. Both parties agree to be circumspect and to use professional discretion in dealing with this information.

Information made available to HUCFA by the Employer shall include but is not limited to the following:

- a. The approved University's annual budget;
- b. The approved annual audited financial statements;
- c. Non-Confidential Motions of the Board of Governors;
- d. The agendas and minutes of the Academic Council, the FASS Committee and the Theology Committee;
- e. Such other information as may be set out elsewhere in this Agreement that is required to be given.

2.4 Collective Agreement

All collective agreements are public documents and shall be available from the administration. A searchable and updated version of this Agreement, including any non-confidential

Memorandums of Understanding, shall be maintained by the Employer and available to all members of HUCFA.

Nothing in this Article is meant to preclude either party of this Agreement from making reasonable requests for additional information from time to time. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

2.5 Member Information

In December of each year the Employer shall provide to HUCFA an electronic list of each member of the bargaining unit which includes the following information, as applicable and/or available: name; address contained on payroll file; department / faculty; rank; type of appointment (whether tenured / permanent, tenure track / probationary, limited term, program sessional, or per course); date of appointment; gender; year of birth; grid step; and salary for each member.

For tenured, probationary, limited term appointments, and 3-year/no end program sessional appointments, the following information will be included, as applicable and/or available: year of first degree; terminal/highest degree; year of terminal/highest degree; year of tenure-stream appointment at Huron; and year(s) of promotion(s).

2.6 Technology

The Employer is committed to providing tenure-stream and tenured faculty members with an appropriate computer (desktop or laptop). Sessional and Per-Course Contract faculty will also have access to a computer supplied by the administration in their assigned office. The administration recognizes the need to remain current with developments in computer technology. The Employer will provide technical support, including but not limited to the maintenance of provided computing devices and ensuring access to university networks and sites, to allow faculty members to perform their teaching, research and services requirements.

The Employer will maintain a technology grant fund, to which faculty can apply for further funds to purchase additional hardware, software, and other forms of technology that best suit the members' particular teaching, research, and service needs (see Article 12.3 of this Agreement).

2.7 Performance Assessment

Disciplinary processes shall be distinct from assessments of academic performance, such as are used for assigning or denying Right of First Refusal, adjudicating Promotion and Tenure applications, and making Annual Performance Evaluations. Evidence used to support the enactment of remedies for unsatisfactory performance may be considered by PATC and the relevant Dean when assessing a member's academic performance record. However, remedies for unsatisfactory academic performance related to teaching, research, or service do not constitute discipline and should not be recorded as discipline or equated with discipline in a personnel file.

Claims about unsatisfactory academic performance must not be arbitrary or baseless. Therefore, the basis on which the judgement is made must be conveyed to the member no later than one month after becoming aware of the performance concern associated with any potential denial of Right of First Refusal, denial of step increment, or the enactment of some other remedy or consequence for unsatisfactory academic performance. Academic performance concerns

should be explained in writing as early as possible to give members an opportunity, where applicable, to improve or correct their performance.

Members can review their entire personnel files once a year by providing 2 business days' notice to the HR Office and may request the removal of documentation that is no longer relevant or useful for such assessments.

Members have a right to respond in writing to any claims of unsatisfactory performance that will be added to their personnel files and to have such replies considered whenever the documentation is considered in assessments of the member's record of academic performance.

2.8 Use of Student Questionnaires on Courses and Teaching

HUCFA and the Employer agree that any consideration of data from student questionnaires on courses and teaching shall take into account the possibility that they may be biased. Student questionnaires on courses and teaching shall not be the main basis for denying a member Seniority points for a course already taught, Right of First Refusal, a No-End Contract, or Promotion and Tenure. Other reasonable and credible evidence of satisfactory or unsatisfactory performance must be considered.

2.9 Discipline

- 2.9.1 A member may be disciplined only for reasonable cause. The Employer shall communicate the grounds for any discipline to the member. Disciplinary action shall not be exercised in a manner which is unreasonable, arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith. Discipline of a member will be commensurate with the seriousness of the violations and based on the principle of progressive discipline, where applicable. The Employer recognizes that, prior to imposing discipline, an employee must be made aware of the situation requiring correction and the standard required and, where appropriate, must be given a reasonable opportunity to improve.
- 2.9.2 Progressive Discipline typically proceeds according to the following sequence of steps:
 - 1. Non-disciplinary discussion of expectations.
 - Verbal warning, clearly specifying the corrective actions that the member is required to take, and, if appropriate, setting a date by which such corrective actions should be taken. Consequences for failure to take the corrective actions shall be clearly communicated.
 - 3. Written warning.
 - 4. Suspension with or without pay.
 - 5. Termination with cause.
- 2.9.3 A member has the right to be represented by HUCFA at any meeting that could lead to discipline being imposed.
- 2.9.4 If, in any disciplinary matter documented in a member's personnel file, a period of 2 years passes during which no other disciplinary action is required, then all documents pertaining to the matter will be removed from the member's personnel file except where a legal requirement necessitates that one or more specific documents be retained.

2.9.5 Members shall have the right to access and review their personnel files once a year by providing 2 business days' notice to the HR Office. Members shall have the right to respond in writing to any document contained therein. Responses pertaining to disciplinary action shall be removed along with the record of disciplinary action as per 2.9.4.

2.9.6 Discipline:

- a) shall comply with the Non-discrimination article;
- b) shall not apply to disability or illness. If the Employer believes the member's behaviour or actions to be unacceptable and subject to discipline, but also believes the behaviour or actions to be the result of medical illness, the Employer and HUCFA agree that the parties shall work together, along with the member and their treating health practitioner, for the purposes of an accommodation for the member.

This article shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the Employer's Duty to Accommodate under the *Ontario Human Rights Code* as well as other policies and procedures of the Employer.

All discipline must be in accordance with this Agreement and subject to the Grievance and Arbitration Article (see <u>Article 15</u> and <u>Article 16</u> of this Agreement).

2.10 No Strike / No Lockout

- a) HUCFA agrees that there shall be no Strike (partial or full withdrawal of services) during the term of this Agreement.
- b) The Employer agrees that there shall be no Lockout during the term of this Agreement.
- c) Strike and Lockout bear the meanings used in the *Ontario Labour Relations Act, 1995*, S.O. 1995, c.1, Sched. A.
- d) Members have the right to decline to perform the normal duties of striking or locked-out employees of the Employer during a legal Strike by another bargaining unit of employees of the Employer or during any Lock-out of another bargaining unit by the Employer.
- e) Discipline shall not apply to any member who refuses to cross or work behind a picket line established by HUCFA when in a legal strike position.

2.11 Dues Deduction

During the life of this Agreement, the Employer shall deduct each pay period from the salary of each member of the bargaining unit such fees, dues or assessments as may be authorized from time to time by HUCFA. HUCFA agrees to inform the Employer in writing of any proposed change in the level of these dues at least one (1) full month in advance of the month in which the proposed change would be effective. No more than four such changes may be initiated in any fiscal year.

The Employer shall remit the amounts deducted pursuant to the clause above to HUCFA no later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the month after the deductions have been made, and shall inform HUCFA monthly of the names and ranks of employees from whose salaries deductions have been made and the amount so deducted from each employee's salary.

The Employer agrees to record the amount of HUCFA's deductions on each employee's T-4 slip in a manner consistent with Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) rules and regulations.

HUCFA shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless from any claims, demands, suits, judgements, attachments and from any other form of liability as a result of the Employer making any deduction and / or remittance of dues and/or fees on behalf of HUCFA. This indemnification relates to claims or liability arising out of the deduction of dues prior to and following ratification of the Collective Agreement between the parties.

3 <u>WORKLOAD AND CONDITIONS FOR LIMITED-TERM. PROBATIONARY TENURE-TRACK. AND TENURED FACULTY MEMBERS</u>

- 3.1 The work of a Huron University College faculty member involves the pursuit and dissemination of knowledge, through research, teaching, public lectures, conference communications, publications, and similar activities. The work of a faculty member also involves active participation in academic governance and service to both the institution and the wider profession and community. Such activities are closely inter-related and involve different aspects of a single role.
- 3.2 The workload of a faculty member is distributed among three main areas: teaching, scholarly activity, and service.
- 3.3 Teaching includes, but is not limited to, such activities as: lectures and seminars; course preparation; curriculum development; and grading and other forms of assessment. It may also include such activities as academic counselling of students; the supervision of theses and projects; and work on thesis committees and examination boards.
- 3.4 Scholarly Activity includes, but is not limited to: attendance at and participation in conference events, colloquia and similar forums in which research is formally disseminated; the writing, editing, and adjudication of peer-reviewed academic publications and monographs, including publications in academic fields (both disciplinary and interdisciplinary) represented at Huron University College, and in the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning.
- 3.5 Service includes, but is not limited to: participation in Huron University College faculty and departmental committees; service to community organizations closely allied with the faculty member's area of expertise and/or the mission of Huron University College; service on regional, national, and international committees such as professional associations, research bodies, and scholarship panels; participation in activities designed to help with the recruiting of students; extra-ordinary administrative service not otherwise recognized; service to HUCFA as an office-bearer or as a negotiator of an agreement; and service to the Canadian Association of University Teachers and the Ontario Confederation of University Faculty Associations.
- 3.6 The normal workload is approximately 40% teaching, 40% scholarly activity, and 20% service. The Professor/Director of Field Education and the Huron-Lawson Chair in the Faculty of

Theology may have workloads that vary from the norm as specified in the individual employment contracts for these positions.

- 3.7 In the assignment of duties, academic workload shall be distributed fairly and equitably. The factors to be considered when assessing and determining the distribution of workload include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - a) the career stage of the member;
 - b) the member's area(s) of expertise;
 - c) the requirements of the member's ongoing research activities;
 - d) the requirements of the member's service or administrative activities;
 - e) the member's involvement in offering directed readings courses;
 - f) the member's involvement in supervision of student research;
 - g) the number of student enrolments in courses assigned to the member;
 - h) the level, type, and method of delivery of courses assigned to the member;
 - i) the number, methods, and complexity of assessments of student work;
 - j) the number of new and distinct preparations required by assigned courses;
 - k) the availability of grading and research assistants and other resources;
 - I) the number of contact hours required by assigned courses;
 - m) other special circumstances such as health or family situations.
- In certain circumstances, ad hoc adjustments of the normal proportions of teaching, scholarly activity, and service may be appropriate; however, such adjustments shall be temporary rather than continuing, and shall be implemented only where the faculty member and the Dean both agree to the arrangement. Where a faculty member has entered into any such agreement to alter her / his workload temporarily, annual performance assessment shall be based on the new workload distribution. The Dean of each faculty will annually maintain a record of individual teaching, scholarly activity, and service loads and will provide HUCFA with access to these records on request. HUCFA will be advised about the terms and basis of such adjustments and will not unreasonably object to such adjustment.

4 TEACHING WORKLOAD FOR FULL-TIME. LIMITED TERM. TENURE STREAM FACULTY

4.1 The normal teaching workload of a limited term, tenured or probationary faculty member shall be no more than 2.5 full-course-equivalents (FCEs) per year. Where departments or programs are without sufficient 0.5 ["half"] courses and are unable to arrange a division of teaching in 1.0 ["full"] courses to make an annual teaching workload of 2.5 feasible for a faculty member or members, the Chair (or Coordinator if appropriate) will consult with the Dean and develop a plan

whereby the affected member or members will be assigned a cumulative teaching load of 5.0 courses over two years, without incurring additional costs or negative academic impact.

It is agreed that full-time faculty members are deemed available to teach between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, from September to April. Notwithstanding, when scheduling courses, the Dean shall ensure that each faculty member is provided with one full day each week free of scheduled teaching.

At the first meeting in the fall of each year, the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences' Educational Policy Committee (EPC) shall hold a meeting to which the Dean of Theology, the Chair of Graduate Studies in Theology, and the Chair of Undergraduate Programs in Theology shall be invited. At this meeting, timetabling will be the first business item of the agenda, and the members of the EPC, in conjunction with the aforementioned representatives from Theology, and in agreement with the Dean of FASS, shall discuss and determine the parameters within which courses shall be scheduled.

After consultation with their department members, Department Chairs, Coordinators and Directors shall then draft the preliminary list of courses for their respective departments in collaboration with the office of the Dean. Where there is no Chair, Coordinator or Director, the Dean of the Faculty shall assume this responsibility.

- 4.2 A full-time faculty member may only be assigned a course scheduled past 5:30 p.m. or on the weekend when such an assignment is justified by the nature of the student clientele and only with the agreement of the member. If a full-time member is scheduled to teach in the evening, that member shall not be scheduled to teach within less than 15 hours of the end of that evening class, except by mutual agreement.
- 4.3 Teaching duties will be assigned that are consistent with the member's expertise, following consultation with the member. The member shall not unreasonably refuse such assignments.
- 4.4 The Dean in each Faculty, in consultation with the Chair or Coordinator as appropriate, will work to ensure that the teaching workload of full-time faculty members is distributed equitably. Where thesis supervisions, directed readings, and independent studies courses (or similar models of course delivery) are required in the delivery of Huron University College-based degrees, the Dean and the Chair (or Coordinator if appropriate) will make every effort to ensure an equitable distribution of these duties among faculty members active in the pertinent program, and to ensure that such duties are taken into account as outlined in Articles 3.6, 3.7, and 11.21(a).
- 4.5 The Employer shall provide a 0.5 course release for probationary tenure-track faculty members in each of the first and second years of their probationary tenure-track appointments, to help them in the development of their research programs and publication records.

5 SERVICE FOR FULL-TIME, LIMITED TERM, TENURE STREAM FACULTY

5.1 The parties agree that limiting the burdens of service work can facilitate the successful start of a probationary tenure-stream appointment. For this reason, faculty members in their first year of an initial probationary appointment shall have no community service duties other than participation in departmental meetings, faculty council meetings, and recruitment events as needed by the program.

Members in the second year of an initial probationary appointment will not serve on any committees that are expected to meet more than four times a year, except at the faculty member's initiative. A faculty member at the rank of Assistant Professor on probationary contract will not serve as Chair of any Huron University College committee.

- 5.2 The Parties share an interest in maintaining HUCFA's ability to adequately represent faculty in matters affecting the mutual interest of the employer and the faculty. To this end, the employer acknowledges the right of HUCFA to secure release time for faculty in order to further the work of the Association.
 - a) HUCFA shall be eligible for up to 2.5 course releases per year for its Executive and Grievance Officer(s) to be allocated at HUCFA's discretion. In each year of this Agreement, the Employer shall provide 1.0 releases and HUCFA shall be responsible to provide for the remaining course release taken, to a maximum of 1.5 course releases. These releases for both the Employer and HUCFA shall be calculated at the stipend of step 1 of that year's Per-Course Contract rate. The releases must be allocated to faculty members in increments of 0.5 and cannot be deferred to subsequent years, except under exceptional circumstances and with the approval of the Dean. HUCFA shall undertake to inform the Deans of each Faculty by the end of February, if the information is available at that time, but under no circumstances later than May 15th of the prior Academic Year of its intentions for the following academic year respecting both purchase and division of release time.
 - b) In years in which the negotiation of this Agreement occurs, the Employer shall provide a 1.5 course reduction to be allocated to bargaining committee and / or Executive members at the discretion of HUCFA. The releases must be allocated to faculty members in increments of 0.5 and cannot be deferred to subsequent years, except under exceptional circumstances and with the approval of the Dean. HUCFA shall undertake to inform the Deans of each Faculty by the end of February, if the information is available at that time, but under no circumstances later than the May 15th of the prior Academic Year of its intentions for the following academic year respecting both purchase and division of release time.
 - c) HUCFA may purchase up to a total of 2.5 additional courses at the stipend of step 1 of that year's Per-Course Contract rate in a year when this agreement is to be renegotiated to reduce the teaching load of tenured members of faculty appointed to negotiate on behalf of HUCFA. The releases must be allocated to faculty members in increments of 0.5 and cannot be deferred to subsequent years. HUCFA shall undertake to inform the Deans of each faculty by the end of February of the prior Academic Year of its intentions for the following year respecting both purchase and division of releases.
- 5.3.1 Chairs and Directors of Departments shall receive 1.0 course releases annually. Coordinators of Programs shall receive 0.5 course releases annually. Additionally, in years when Programs are undergoing an external review, the Chair, Director, or Coordinator will receive an additional 0.5 release. In Departments where there is a Chair and a Coordinator, when a Program is being reviewed, the person responsible for the bulk of the work related to the Program review shall receive the additional 0.5 release. The Employer will provide Chairs/Directors/Coordinators with additional administrative and clerical supports in a review year. Such supports will be clearly communicated to the Chair/Director/Coordinator that is preparing the review. The intent of such supports is to contain the workload required to the time provided by the 0.5 release.

- 5.3.2 Normally, pre-tenure or LTA members shall not serve as Chairs/Directors/Coordinators. Where a pre-tenure or LTA member serves as Chair/Director/Coordinator due to exceptional circumstances, the member shall receive an extra 0.5 release.
 - The additional 0.5 release for pre-tenure or LTA members shall begin in the 2024/25 academic year.
- 5.4 Chairs and Directors shall receive an annual allowance of \$1,750 for expenses related to their duties as Chairs and Directors. Coordinators shall receive an annual allowance of \$1,250 for expenses related to their duties as Coordinators. Following the first year of the contract, these allowances shall increase by the same percentage as faculty salaries.

6 SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES WORKLOAD, AND SABBATICAL LEAVES

- 6.1 Faculty members have the freedom and responsibility to determine for themselves an appropriate schedule for scholarly activity subject to Article 3.6 above.
- 6.2 Recognizing that research investigations and the preparation of research results for dissemination often require extended periods of concentrated effort, every effort will be made to provide members of the faculty with adequate opportunity for this.
- 6.3 The Faculty of Arts and Social Science and the Faculty of Theology will each maintain a research committee (as a subcommittee of each faculty). The purpose of each committee shall be to develop strategies to strengthen support for faculty research.
- 6.4 The Employer shall provide an extended period of uninterrupted research time to all eligible tenured faculty members in the form of a Sabbatical Leave. Sabbatical leaves are necessary to provide sufficient uninterrupted time for research and/or professional and creative activities.
- 6.5 Faculty members on Tenure Contract are eligible to apply for a full-year Sabbatical Leave under the terms and conditions noted below if they have completed six years of uninterrupted, full-time appointment on Tenured, Probationary, or Limited-Term appointment at Huron University College. A maximum of three years of full-time service on Limited-Term appointment may be applied toward the six years overall required for eligibility for Sabbatical Leave. Leave years under full-time contract shall not count toward the six required for Sabbatical Leave unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Huron University College. Following first Sabbatical Leave granted by Huron University College, faculty on tenure contract are eligible for Sabbatical Leave of 6 months' duration (1 July to 31 December, or 1 January to 30 June) after three years of uninterrupted, full-time appointment, or to sabbatical leave of 12 months' duration after six years of uninterrupted full-time appointment.
- 6.6 Faculty members who take a first Sabbatical Leave of 6 months duration will normally teach 1.5 courses in the academic year. Alternatively, at the time of sabbatical application, faculty members may apply to the Dean for approval to teach 1.0 courses in the first sabbatical leave. The Dean shall not unreasonably deny such requests. Faculty members who take a second 6-month Sabbatical leave will teach the remaining 1.0 or 1.5 courses in the academic year of the sabbatical. Further sabbatical leaves will follow the same process if the faculty member applies for one or more subsequent 6-month leaves.

- 6.7 In cases where a Sabbatical leave has been deferred for one full academic year, the year deferred will count for calculating the eligibility for the next Sabbatical leave for that faculty member.
- 6.8 Consideration for Sabbatical Leaves shall require a clear statement of the research or professional development project(s) being proposed. Applicants shall provide information about their projects(s) under the following headings, as applicable: scope, objectives, scholarly significance, theoretical approach or conceptual framework, research plans and methods, social relevance or practical importance, work already completed, in progress, and to be undertaken, and schedule.
- 6.9 Applications for Sabbatical Leave in the Faculty of Arts and Social Science shall be placed on the agenda of the Committee of Chairs by the Dean on receipt of the applications from Departmental Chairs. Recommendations shall then be made by the Committee of Chairs to the Dean. The Dean, who shall not be bound by the recommendations of the Committee of Chairs, shall in turn recommend to the President. In the event of a disagreement between the Committee of Chairs and the Dean, both recommendations shall be forwarded to the President. In the Faculty of Theology, application shall be made directly to the Dean who shall recommend to the President. The President shall not be bound by these recommendations in considering approval.
- 6.10 Sabbatical Leave shall be granted using set criteria that shall include, but not be limited to, the items listed below. The satisfaction of all the listed criteria shall not be necessary for the granting of Sabbatical Leave:
 - a) The size and importance of the research or professional development project.
 - b) A clear commitment in writing from a granting agency.
 - c) Copies of applications to granting agencies, for projects where external funding is available.
 - d) A clear commitment in writing from a publisher.
 - e) Urgency resulting from the nature and content of the project.
 - f) The fruitfulness of the last Sabbatical Leave taken.
 - g) The scholarly productivity of the applicant (this criterion will be given less weight for applicants newer in the profession).
 - h) Number of years since last sabbatical leave.
 - i) The effect of the Sabbatical leave on the department and its programmatic plans.
- 6.11 In the first sabbatical leave taken on a tenure contract, 100% of salary will be payable. On subsequent sabbatical leaves of a full year, 90% of salary will be payable. Faculty members may apply for a 6-month sabbatical leave after 6 years at the rank of Assistant Professor on a probationary contract, and after 3 years on a tenured contract. Compensation on a 6-month sabbatical leave shall be at 100% of salary.

- 6.12 A faculty member on Sabbatical Leave may accept a fellowship, honorary visiting professorship, part-time teaching appointment, employment as consultant, or the like, provided that the duties associated with such a fellowship, appointment, or employment will not jeopardize the scholarly activities for which she or he has been granted Sabbatical Leave. It is expected that total remuneration, from such professional activities including sabbatical salary, will not exceed 125% of normal salary exclusive of moving and research expenses. Earnings above 125% will be deducted from the Sabbaticant's salary. The Sabbaticant must report to his or her Dean the award of any fellowship and the acceptance of any appointment or employment for which remuneration is contracted.
- 6.13 Years of Sabbatical Leave shall count for residence requirements for eligibility for promotion.
- 6.14 A faculty member granted Sabbatical Leave must return to Huron for at least one year of full-time employment prior to retirement. The faculty member may make a request to the Dean, who shall consult with the President, that this requirement be waived. The request may be granted or denied at the discretion of the Dean.

7 REDUCED TEACHING FOR TENURED FACULTY

- 7.1 Full-time tenured faculty members may apply for a reduced teaching load to their Dean, who shall in turn make a recommendation to the President. The President shall not be bound by these recommendations in considering approval.
- 7.2 An application for a reduced teaching load must be submitted to the faculty member's Dean by January 1st, 8 months prior to the start of the academic year in which the reduced teaching load will be in effect.
- 7.3 The maximum allowable reduced teaching in any one year is the equivalent of 1.5 courses. Faculty members can choose to request a reduced teaching load for periods of one year, two years, or three years.
- 7.4 During the reduced teaching load period the faculty member is expected to fulfill all other responsibilities and expectations in the areas of research and teaching.
- 7.5 The faculty member's salary during the reduced teaching load period will be reduced by an amount corresponding to step 3 of that year's Per-Course Contract rate for each 1.0 courses of reduced teaching and half that amount for a 0.5 course reduction.

8 WORKLOAD AND CONDITIONS FOR PROGRAM SESSIONAL AND PER COURSE CONTRACT APPOINTEES

- 8.1 Seniority shall be accrued on an institution-wide basis. A Program Sessional or Per-Course Contract appointee shall begin accruing seniority from the date of hire.
- 8.2 Seniority shall be calculated in the following manner: for each half-course taught, the member shall receive 0.5 seniority points; for each full course taught, the member shall receive 1.0 seniority points. It shall be the responsibility of the Employer to record and track members' accumulated points.

- 8.3 Seniority is retained for a period of three years following the termination of the last contract, after which seniority expires.
- 8.4 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list, beginning with the 2014-15 academic year, which includes each member's acquired seniority points and each member's current rank at Huron University College. The Employer shall update this list at the end of each academic term, and at the end of May each year shall post this updated seniority list and send a copy to the HUCFA Executive. The list shall also be made available to HUCFA upon request.

If there is a discrepancy, the faculty member or HUCFA shall notify the employer by June 30th each year, otherwise the list shall be deemed approved.

8.5 These stipends apply for service responsibilities that are not included among the regular contractual duties of Per-Course contract and Program Sessional members. The parties acknowledge that our students and community benefit from the service duties performed by our Per Course and Program Sessional members. In such cases, the following stipends apply:

Duty	Amount	Notes
Attends 1 Recruitment Function	\$150	
Serves as a Senior Editor for Liberated Arts	\$600	
Mentors 1 CURL Student	\$250 - \$600	The exact rate of remuneration shall be agreed upon by the member and the
Organizes 1 experiential learning experience	\$250 - \$600	Dean in conversation with the Department Chair or Program Coordinator and shall fairly reflect the
Serves on 1 Huron Committee	\$250 - \$500	member's labour and time.
Provides service to the department or academic unit, such as: Organizing a departmental event.	\$100 - \$600	The exact rate of remuneration Shall be agreed upon by the member and the Dean in conversation with the
Working with local high schools on collaborations.		Department Chair or Program Coordinator and shall fairly reflect the member's labour and
Running extracurricular events for program students (eg: a conversation group in a language program, or organizing a movie night).		time.
Acting as the second supervisor on an EL trip.		

There may be other forms of service for which it is appropriate for the Dean of the Faculty, after consultation with the appropriate Chair/Director/Coordinator to offer the member a stipend of

the kind detailed above. For extraordinarily time-consuming tasks, stipends larger than those listed above may be appropriate. In such cases, the exact rate of remuneration shall be agreed upon by the member and the Dean in conversation with the Department Chair or Program Coordinator and shall fairly reflect the member's labour and time.

Final approval in advance for the Per-Course contract or Program Sessional member's fulfilment of these duties in exchange for the monetary incentives noted above, rests with the Dean of the applicable faculty, or, in the case of the editorship of Liberated Arts, with the Provost.

Completion of any of the above-mentioned duties is entirely voluntary and cannot be required of Per-Course Contract or Program Sessional appointees or members.

8.6 Right of First Refusal

In accordance with contracted work under Article 9 for Program Sessional Appointees and Article 10 for Per-Course Contract Appointees, the member earns the Right of First Refusal for any course contract for which the member is qualified by virtue of having already taught the course successfully twice before. Right of First Refusal is earned unless the Chair of the relevant department and the Dean of the relevant faculty agree that prior performance on that particular course contract has been unsatisfactory and have communicated this in writing to the member. The member will maintain the Right of First Refusal for the period of time in which the member has seniority points as per Article 8.3.

To exercise Right of First Refusal for the upcoming academic year, by November 15th for Fall, Winter, Intersession, and Summer term courses, members must express in writing to the Chair / Director / Coordinator of the Department or Program in which the course or courses are housed, with a copy sent to the Director of Human Resources, their intent to exercise their Right of First Refusal. By October 5th, the Employer will send an email message to all faculty reminding them that it is their responsibility to indicate in writing that they are planning to exercise their Right of First Refusal to those courses available in the coming academic year.

- 8.7 If more than one member exercises their Right of First Refusal to a course contract (for a Program Sessional or a Per-Course Contract position), the Dean in consultation with the Chair, where appropriate, will offer the contract to the candidate with the greater seniority. In cases where the candidates have equal seniority, the Dean in consultation with the Chair will take into account the candidates' academic qualifications as well as the Employers principles of equity and diversity.
- 8.8 In cases where the course will be taught by a tenure-track or tenured member of the department or faculty, Right of First Refusal cannot be exercised. In cases where the course is included in any Program Sessional contract, it shall be considered not to be available as a Per-Course Contract, and so Right of First Refusal cannot be exercised.

9 PROGRAM SESSIONAL APPOINTMENTS

9.1 A Program Sessional appointment is a three-year appointment made in cases where the teaching and program development needs in a program are deemed by the Dean, in consultation with the Chair or Coordinator, or in the case where there is no Chair or Coordinator, in consultation with the faculty members active in the department, to warrant additional human resources in this form rather than a Per-Course Contract or Probationary appointment.

In exceptional circumstances, where an ongoing program need is not evident, as determined by the Dean, in consultation with the Chair or Coordinator, or in the case where there is no Chair or Coordinator, in consultation with the faculty members active in the department, the Employer may, in consultation with HUCFA, appoint a one-year Program Sessional for up to three consecutive one-year appointments. If ongoing program need should become evident, a Program Sessional appointment will be created. Each one-year Program Sessional appointment would count towards the requirements of a 3-3-No end contract as per Article 9.4.

For example, in such cases, if a faculty member has served two, one-year Program Sessional appointments consecutively, these would count as the first two years of a three-year Program Sessional appointment, which in turn would count towards a 3-3-No end contract.

- 9.1.1 Where a Program Sessional position is created, Per Course Appointees in the academic unit will receive first consideration for the position. In the event of cross-disciplinary appointments, Per Course Appointees from each academic unit will be considered. In cases where no one in the applicable academic unit(s) has the qualifications and expertise necessary for the new position, the search will extend to other members of the bargaining unit. Only when these two possibilities have been exhausted will consideration be given to potential appointees outside the bargaining unit. Hiring processes that conform to the procedures outlined in Huron's Spousal Hiring Policy will not be considered to be in contravention of this clause. The Employer will notify HUCFA in writing of such hires. Hiring practices will follow the principles of Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion.
- 9.2 Offers of contracts for Program Sessional appointments will be expressed in writing in a standard letter. A copy of the standard letter template will be provided to HUCFA by April 1st each year, as will any updated versions of the standard letter template.
- 9.3 Duties of Program Sessional appointees include the teaching of 3.0 courses during the months of September to April, participation in departmental meetings and faculty council meetings, and assistance in relevant curriculum development at the invitation of the Dean and the Chair or Coordinator. Should Program Sessional appointees engage in research or additional service duties on their own volition, these activities shall be counted towards future promotion and tenure considerations should the member subsequently obtain a Tenure Track position at Huron University College.

9.4 3-3-No End Contract

A Program Sessional appointee will be appointed under the 3-3-No End contract model, except as outlined in Article 9.1. This means that the member will be appointed for one three-year term under the first contract, renewable for another three-year term contract on recommendation by the Chair, or Coordinator and on confirmation by the Dean of ongoing program need.

Program Sessional appointees who have held two 3-year contracts will be appointed for a third contract for no less than 3 years and without an ending date. This No-End contract will continue provided there is ongoing program need and satisfactory performance by the member, as recommended by the Chair or Coordinator, and as confirmed by the Dean.

Review of the 3-3-No End Contract in relation to ongoing program need will occur every three years. No-End Contracts can only be terminated when lack of ongoing program need or unsatisfactory performance has been established in a letter that has been sent to the member and the HUCFA Executive. Chairs, in consultation with the Dean, will consider the expertise of No End sessional members alongside that of probationary and tenured members when planning future program directions and course offerings. Reassigning courses taught by a No-End sessional member to an LTA, probationary, or tenured member is not in and of itself evidence of a lack of ongoing program need.

- 9.5 Program Sessional appointment will be at a rank of Lecturer or Assistant Professor. A Program Sessional appointee appointed at the rank of Lecturer will progress to Assistant Professor on presentation of evidence of completion of their PhD.
- 9.6 Where a Program Sessional or equivalent obtains a probationary (tenure-track) or LTA appointment at Huron, a maximum of three years spent at Huron University College on the Program Sessional Appointments may be counted for use in satisfying residency requirements for the purposes of promotion and sabbatical leave. If the member maintained an active research agenda while on their Program Sessional (or equivalent) appointment, they may receive an additional year of credit for the purposes of tenure and promotion.
- 9.7 In cases where a Program Sessional appointment, except for a one-year Program Sessional appointment, is not going to be renewed or continued due to a lack of ongoing program need, the faculty member must be informed, in writing, of the reasons of the decision not to renew prior to the end of the appointment. The faculty member will be informed as soon as possible, but no later than November 30th.
- 9.8 As outlined in Articles 9.1 9.7 of this Agreement, the responsibilities of a Program Sessional Appointee include teaching courses in successive academic sessions (September through April), as assigned by the Department/Centre Chair or Faculty Dean; being available outside of regular class times to meet with students on an advertised basis; providing final grades for all students; participating in departmental and faculty council meetings; responding to appeals, should any be filed either during or after completion of the course; and at the invitation of the Chair/Coordinator/Dean, a Program Sessional Appointee may be expected to participate in curriculum development.

Accordingly, throughout the duration of a Program Sessional contract and including through the months of May, June, July and August, the Employer will provide Program Sessional Appointees with uninterrupted institutional support via continual access to reasonable office space, an institutional email account, access to technological and library services, and access to staff parking.

10 PER-COURSE CONTRACT ACADEMIC STAFF

10.1 A Per-Course Contract appointment is a contract made only in cases where, in a given academic year from September to April, aggregations of 0.5 to 2.5 courses are assigned to a single faculty member to fill short-term programmatic needs as determined by the Chair or Coordinator and approved by the Dean. A Per-Course Contract appointment will be at the rank of Lecturer or Assistant Professor. A Per-Course Contract appointee appointed at the rank of Lecturer will progress to Assistant Professor on presentation of evidence of completion of their PhD.

- 10.2 Duties of Per-Course Contract Academic appointees are limited to the teaching of the 0.5 2.5 contracted courses from September to April.
- 10.3 Offers of contracts for Per-Course appointments will be expressed in writing in a standard letter. A copy of the standard letter template will be provided to HUCFA by April 1st each year, as will any updated versions of the standard letter template.
- 10.4 In cases where a Per-Course Academic Contract requiring a faculty member to teach 2.5 courses from September to April is offered to a member in three consecutive years, a 2.5 course contract will not be offered to that member for a fourth year until the Dean overseeing the contract has conferred with any relevant Chairs/Directors/Coordinators to consider the possibility of creating a three-year Program Sessional position. Where continuing (three-year) program need is not evident, but a one-year Program Sessional position is feasible, the one-year Program Sessional contract will be created in accordance with Articles 9.1 and 10.7. If the Dean and any relevant Chairs/Directors/Coordinators confer and the creation of a Program Sessional is deemed not to be feasible for that year, the same process shall be repeated in each subsequent year.
- 10.5 As outlined in Articles 10.1 10.4 of this Agreement, the responsibilities of a Per-Course Contract Appointee includes being available outside of regular class times to meet with students on an advertised basis; providing final grades for all students; and responding to appeals, should any be filed either during or after completion of the course. Per-Course Contract Appointees also must conduct advance preparation for teaching courses. Accordingly, throughout the duration of their contract, the employer will provide Per-Course Contract Appointees with institutional support via continual access to reasonable office space, an institutional email account, access to technological and library services, and access to staff parking. Per-Course Contracts for the Fall term will begin on Augst 15th and end December 31st. Per-Course Contracts for the Winter term will begin on January 1st and end on May 15th.
- 10.6 Per course members who have at least two years of consecutive service in the bargaining unit, and who can reasonably expect to be appointed in the subsequent academic year, shall be given continuous institutional support between contracts. Such support will include the right to claim affiliation with Huron, access to an institutional email account, library services, and access to staff parking, except in circumstances beyond the Employer's control. The Employer will not unreasonably deny requests for access to office space over the summer months to Per Course members meeting the above criteria.
- 10.7 Where a Per Course position is created, Per Course Appointees in the academic unit will receive first consideration for the position, for which no other member holds Right of First Refusal. In the event of cross-disciplinary appointments, Per Course Appointees from each academic unit will be considered. In cases where no one in the applicable academic unit(s) has the qualifications and expertise necessary for the new position, the search will extend to other members of the bargaining unit. Only when these two possibilities have been exhausted will consideration be given to potential appointees outside the bargaining unit. Hiring processes that conform to the procedures outlined in Huron's Spousal Hiring Policy will not be considered to be in contravention of this clause. The Employer will notify HUCFA in writing of such hires. Hiring practices will follow the principles of Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion.

- 10.8 Should Per Course appointees engage in research or service duties on their own volition, these activities may be counted towards future promotion and tenure considerations should the member subsequently obtain a probationary (tenure-track) position at Huron University College. Such credit does not alter the 40-40-20 workload distribution of probationary members as outlined in Article 3.6.
- 10.9.1 A signed Per Course contract may be cancelled by the Dean due to low enrollment. If a course that is contracted to a Per Course member, in either the Fall or Winter term, is cancelled due to low enrollment prior to the contract start date and after the contract has been signed by the member and returned to the Dean, the member shall receive 10% of the stipend for the course as listed in their contract letter.
- 10.9.2 Every effort shall be made not to cancel courses after the contract start date. In exceptional circumstances, where a course is cancelled after the contract start date in any term (Fall, Winter, Intersession or Summer), the member shall receive 12% of the stipend for the course as listed in their contract letter plus compensation for time worked.

11 FACULTY SALARIES

- 11.1 It is agreed that the desired goal for faculty salaries, depending on financial feasibility, is that Huron University College teaching staff will be paid at levels paid to equivalent ranks of similar experience and accomplishment in comparable Faculties and Departments of Ontario Universities.
- 11.2 Salaries for Tenure-Stream (Probationary or Tenured) and LTA Professors.

In the awarding of salary increases it is reasonable for Huron University College to expect tenure-stream (probationary or tenured) and LTA faculty members, to be scrupulous in the performance of their duties as instructors, student counsellors, and to be active as scholars contributing to their disciplines through research and publication and / or through advancements in pedagogy (see <u>Article 13.5</u>).

The salary grid is defined over steps 1 through 8 at the Assistant Professor rank and steps 1 through 23 for the Associate and Full Professor ranks: the ceiling of the Associate Professor rank is step 17, and that of the Full Professor rank is step 23.

Salary increases for the period May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2027 are as follows:

a) Year 1: May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2024. All eligible members of faculty move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 2% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2022–2023) grid.

Year 1: May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2024						
	Assistant Associate Full					
Floor	\$86,631	\$108,044	\$108,044			
Ceiling	\$108,044	\$156,987	\$175,341			
Step Value	\$3,059	\$3,059	\$3,059			

b) Year 2: May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2025. All eligible members of faculty move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 2.5% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2023-2024) grid.

Year 2: May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2025					
	Assistant Associate Full				
Floor	\$88,796	\$110,745	\$110,745		
Ceiling	\$110,745	\$160,912	\$179,725		
Step Value	\$3,135	\$3,135	\$3,135		

c) Year 3: May 1, 2025 to April 30, 2026. All eligible members of faculty move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 3.75% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2024-2025) grid.

Year 3: May 1, 2025 to April 30, 2026					
	Assistant Associate Full				
Floor	\$92,126	\$114,898	\$114,898		
Ceiling	\$114,898	\$166,946	\$186,464		
Step Value	\$3,253	\$3,253	\$3,253		

d) Year 4: May 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027. All eligible members of faculty move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 3.25% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2025-2026) grid.

Year 4: May 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027				
Assistant Associate Full				
Floor	\$95,120	\$118,632	\$118,632	
Ceiling	\$118,632	\$172,372	\$192,524	
Step Value	\$3,359	\$3,359	\$3,359	

Salary at the Associate Professor rank is capped at grid step 17 in each of the respective years of this agreement.

Salary at the Full Professor rank is capped at grid step 23 in each of the respective years of this agreement.

- 11.3 The procedure for determining individual salaries during the term of this agreement is set out in Article 13 below.
- 11.4 Each grid step corresponds to one year. Meeting the condition stipulated in <u>Article 11.2</u>, a faculty member advances (progresses) one grid step per year while employed at Huron University College and receives the corresponding grid salary for that step and rank until the cap is reached. Thereafter, the faculty member remains at the cap step and receives only the annual scale increase to salary, unless they are promoted to a higher rank. No decision may contradict the stipulations made in <u>Articles 11.7 11.11</u>.
- 11.5 Promotion to Full Professor is recognized by awarding one additional step increment.

- 11.6 All tenure-stream and LTA faculty members of HUCFA are placed on the grid. All tenure-stream and LTA faculty members on the grid are subject to the caps previously described.
- 11.7 Faculty salaries for tenure-stream and LTA faculty members on the grid during the term of this agreement will be based on the salary grid shown below:

	Tenure-stream and LTA Faculty Salary Grid 2023 – 2027							
2023/24		2024/25		2025/26		2026/27		
Step	Assistant	Associate/Full	Assistant	Associate/Full	Assistant	Associate/Full	Assistant	Associate/Full
1	\$86,631	\$108,044	\$88,796	\$110,745	\$92,126	\$114,898	\$95,120	\$118,632
2	\$89,690	\$111,102	\$91,932	\$113,880	\$95,379	\$118,151	\$98,479	\$121,990
3	\$92,749	\$114,161	\$95,067	\$117,015	\$98,632	\$121,404	\$101,838	\$125,349
4	\$95,808	\$117,220	\$98,203	\$120,151	\$101,885	\$124,657	\$105,197	\$128,708
5	\$98,867	\$120,279	\$101,338	\$123,286	\$105,138	\$127,910	\$108,555	\$132,067
6	\$101,926	\$123,338	\$104,474	\$126,422	\$108,391	\$131,163	\$111,914	\$135,425
7	\$104,985	\$126,397	\$107,609	\$129,557	\$111,644	\$134,416	\$115,273	\$138,784
8	\$108,044	\$129,456	\$110,745	\$132,693	\$114,898	\$137,669	\$118,632	\$142,143
9		\$132,515		\$135,828		\$140,922		\$145,502
10		\$135,574		\$138,964		\$144,175		\$148,860
11		\$138,633		\$142,099		\$147,428		\$152,219
12		\$141,692		\$145,235		\$150,681		\$155,578
13		\$144,751		\$148,370		\$153,934		\$158,937
14		\$147,810		\$151,505		\$157,187		\$162,296
15		\$150,869		\$154,641		\$160,440		\$165,654
16		\$153,928		\$157,776		\$163,693		\$169,013
17		\$156,987		\$160,912		\$166,946		\$172,372
18		\$160,046		\$164,047		\$170,199		\$175,731
19		\$163,105		\$167,183		\$173,452		\$179,089
20		\$166,164		\$170,318		\$176,705		\$182,448
21		\$169,223		\$173,454		\$179,958		\$185,807
22		\$172,282		\$176,589		\$183,211		\$189,166
23		\$175,341		\$179,725		\$186,464		\$192,524
	Step V	/alue \$3,059	Step V	alue \$3,135	Step V	alue \$3,253	Step V	alue \$3,359

11.8 Individuals who have not reached the cap for their rank will progress one grid step at the end of each year of the agreement, except where a faculty member's performance in one or more of teaching and student counselling, community service, and scholarship/instructional development falls below the minimum acceptable standard¹.

22

¹ The minimum acceptable standards for teaching and student counselling, community service, and scholarship/instructional development are set out in the HUC/HUCFA Standards Document (APPENDIX C)

- 11.9 Where a faculty member's performance in the area of teaching and student counselling falls below the minimum acceptable standard, the faculty member will be disqualified from receiving one-half of any applicable grid step increment.
- 11.10 Where a faculty member's overall performance falls below the minimum acceptable standard in the combined areas of teaching and student counselling, community service, and scholarship / instructional development, the faculty member will be disqualified from receiving one-half of any applicable grid step increment². Above average performance in one area may offset a below-minimum standard of performance in another, excepting that of teaching and student counselling, where below-minimum standards of performance will disqualify faculty members of one-quarter of their grid step increment.
- 11.11 The forfeiture of a full or partial step increment does not affect the cap. A faculty member who has been denied a step increment (or partial step increment) will take more years to reach the cap.
- 11.12 Salaries for Program Sessional Appointees

The salary grid for Program Sessional appointees is defined over steps 1 through 8.

Salary increases for the period July 1, 2023 to April 30, 2027 are as follows:

a) Year 1: July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. All eligible sessional appointees move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 7.5% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2022–2023) grid.

Year 1: July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024			
Program Sessional			
Floor \$54,740			
Ceiling	\$70,962		
Step Value	\$2,317		

b) Year 2: July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025. All eligible Program Sessional appointees move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 3.25% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2023-2024) grid.

Year 2: July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025				
Program Sessional				
Floor \$56,519				
Ceiling \$73,268				
Step Value	\$2,393			

² Same as footnote 1 on page 22

³ Above average performance standards in each of the areas of teaching and student counselling, community service, and scholarship/instruction development are set out in the HUC/HUCFA Standards Document (APPENDIX C)

c) Year 3: July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026. All eligible Program Sessional appointees move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 4.5% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2024-2025) grid.

Year 3: July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026			
Program Sessional			
Floor \$59,062			
Ceiling \$76,565			
Step Value	\$2,500		

d) Year 4: July 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027. All eligible Program Sessional appointees move one step on the salary grid. A scale factor of 5% will be applied to the dollar values of the existing (2021-2022) grid.

Year 4: July 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027			
Program Sessional			
Floor \$62,016			
Ceiling	\$80,393		
Step Value	\$2,625		

11.13 First-time Program Sessional appointments will be placed on the Program Sessional grid according to the following guidelines:

Teaching Experience	Degree	Grid Placement
0 – 2.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 1
3.0 – 5.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 2
6.0 – 8.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 3
9.0 – 11.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 4
12.0 - 14.5 full course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 5
15.0 or more full course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 6
0 – 2.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	Ph.D	Step 3
3.0 – 5.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	Ph.D	Step 4
6.0 – 8.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience or more	Ph.D	Step 5
9.0 – 11.5 full-course equivalent teaching Experience	Ph.D	Step 6
12.0 - 14.5 full-course equivalent teaching Experience	Ph.D	Step 7
15.0 or more full course equivalent teaching Experience	Ph.D	Step 8

Program Sessional Appointees will also receive the following consideration for relevant work experience:

A. Post-doctoral fellow or full-time researcher

0.5 grid steps per year

B. Post Master's/Professional Degree or Professional Designation full-time work related to position 0.5 grid steps per year

11.14 Faculty salaries for Program Sessional faculty members on the grid during the term of this agreement will be based on the salary grid shown below:

Program Sessional Appointee Salary Grid 2023-2026				
	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26	2025/26
Step				
1	\$54,740	\$56,519	\$59,062	\$62,016
2	\$57,057	\$58,912	\$61,563	\$64,641
3	\$59,375	\$61,305	\$64,063	\$67,266
4	\$61,692	\$63,697	\$66,564	\$69,892
5	\$64,010	\$66,090	\$69,064	\$72,517
6	\$66,327	\$68,483	\$71,564	\$75,143
7	\$68,645	\$70,875	\$74,065	\$77,768
8	\$70,962	\$73,268	\$76,565	\$80,393
STEP	\$2,317	\$2,393	\$2,500	\$2,625

11.15 Salaries Per-Course Contract Members

The salary grid for Per-Course Contract members is defined over steps 1 through 5, as defined in Article 11.17.

The Per-Course Contract salary grid is defined at the value of 1.0 FCE; the actual salary is calculated according to the total number of courses taught during the period of the contract.

The Per-Course Contract teaching staff advances one step in the salary grid only when the conditions stipulated in <u>Article 11.16</u> are met; automatic annual advancement of the grid step is not available.

Salary increases for the period May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2027 are as follows:

Per course members are paid per term and salaries will be determined based on the salary grid corresponding to the contract start date. There will be no annual step increases during the duration of the contract.

a) Year 1: May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2024. A scale factor of 2% will be applied to the dollar values in the existing (2022–2023) grid.

Year 1: May 1, 2023 to April 30, 2024			
Per-Course Contract			
Floor	\$16,134		
Ceiling	\$18,183		
Step Value	\$512		

b) Year 2: May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2025. A scale factor of 2.5% will be applied to the dollar values in the existing (2023-2024) grid.

Year 2: May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2025			
Per-Course Contract			
Floor	\$16,538		
Ceiling	\$18,637		
Step Value	\$525		

c) Year 3: May 1, 2025 to April 30, 2026. A scale factor of 3.75% will be applied to the dollar values in the existing (2024-2025) grid.

Year 3: May 1, 2025 to April 30, 2026			
Per-Course Contract			
Floor	\$17,158		
Ceiling	\$19,336		
Step Value	\$545		

d) Year 4: May 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027. A scale factor of 3.25% will be applied to the dollar values in the existing (2025-2026) grid.

Year 4: May 1, 2026 to April 30, 2027			
Per-Course Contract			
Floor	\$17,716		
Ceiling	\$19,964		
Step Value	\$562		

11.16 First-time Per-Course Contract appointments will be placed on the Per-Course Contract grid according to the guidelines below.

Teaching Experience	Degree	Grid Placement
0 - 2.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 1
3.0 - 5.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 2
6.0 - 8.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 3
9.0 - 11.5 full course equivalent teaching experience	No Ph.D	Step 4
12.0 full course equivalent teaching experience or more	No Ph.D	Step 5
0 - 2.5 full course equivalent teaching experience	Ph.D	Step 3
3.0 - 5.5 full-course equivalent teaching experience	Ph.D	Step 4
6.0 full-course equivalent teaching experience or more	Ph.D	Step 5

Per Course Contract members will also receive the following consideration for relevant work experience:

A. Post-doctoral fellow or full-time researcher 0.5 grid steps per year

B. Post Master's/Professional Degree or
 Professional Designation full-time work related to position
 0.5 grid steps per year

11.17 Faculty salaries for Per-Course faculty members on the grid during the term of this agreement will be based on the salary grid shown below:

Per-Course Contract Appointee Salary Grid 2023-2026				
	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26	2026/27
Step	Per 1.0 Course	Per 1.0 Course	Per 1.0 Course	Per 1.0 Course
1	\$16,134	\$16,538	\$17,158	\$17,716
2	\$16,646	\$17,063	\$17,702	\$18,278
3	\$17,158	\$17,587	\$18,247	\$18,840
4	\$17,670	\$18,112	\$18,791	\$19,402
5	\$18,183	\$18,637	\$19,336	\$19,964
STEP	\$512	\$525	\$545	\$562

11.18 Faculty Allowance for Tenure-stream/LTA Professors

An annual allowance as per the table below will be available to limited term, probationary, and tenured faculty to offset costs of materials, equipment, professional development or pedagogical or research-related expenses incurred in the fulfilment of the member's program responsibilities.

2023/24: \$2,609 2024/25: \$2,674 2025/26: \$2,774 2026/27: \$2,864

11.19 Faculty Allowances for Program Sessional Appointees

An annual allowance, as per the table below, shall be available to Program Sessional Contract members, to offset costs of materials, equipment, professional development or pedagogical or research-related expenses incurred in the fulfilment of the member's program responsibilities.

2023/24: \$1,773 2024/25: \$1,817 2025/26: \$1,885 2026/27: \$1,946

11.20 Faculty Allowances for Per Course Contract Appointees

An annual allowance, as per the table below, shall be available to Per-Course Contract members, to offset costs of materials, equipment, professional development or pedagogical or research-related expenses incurred in the fulfilment of the member's program responsibilities.

This allowance will be determined by the Per Course Contract member's seniority points as of May 1 of each year. The member must be under contract during the upcoming fiscal year (May 1 – April 30) to qualify for the stipend.

This allowance will be prorated based on the number of FCEs that the Per-Course Contract member has been contracted to teach. 3.0 FCE course shall represent 100% of the faculty allowance available, and the amount shall be prorated from there. If a Per-Course Contract member has 2.0 or more seniority points, they shall be guaranteed an annual faculty allowance that year of no less than \$1,000. If the member's pro-rated allowance exceeds the \$1,000 guaranteed amount, they shall receive the prorated allowance.

2023/24: \$1,773 2024/25: \$1,817 2025/26: \$1,885 2026/27: \$1,946

11.21 Overload Stipends

The following establishes the compensation framework for forms of academic labour that are considered beyond the regular duties of HUCFA members. Faculty members have the right to refuse any duties outlined below. All duties and stipends must be approved by the Dean or designate. The amounts indicated will apply in Year 1 of the Agreement and will increase by

the same percentage negotiated for tenure-stream/LTA salary increases in each year of the agreement.

- a) Applying principles of fairness and equity, where individuals are asked, based on the Program needs, to take on reading courses, the individual shall be compensated with a stipend of \$1,800 per 0.5 course.
- b) i. Where tenure-stream or LTA members teach more than the normal teaching load as defined in Article 4.1, they shall be paid an overload stipend of step 1 of that year's Per Course Contract rate for each overload course taught.
 - ii. Where Program Sessional members teach more than their regular 3.0 course load, the extra courses will be paid according to $\frac{\text{Articles } 11.16}{\text{Articles } 11.17}$.
- c) Faculty members shall receive a stipend of \$600 to supervise a student intern taking Interdisciplinary Studies 3495A/B/Y, MOS 3494, or any other for credit internship course requiring a comparable level of faculty supervision. The stipend will be paid per student supervised. All HUCFA members are eligible to supervise internships and for the stipend.
- d) Faculty members shall receive a stipend of \$120 to provide a guest lecture in Scholar's Electives 1101F/G or 1102F/G. This stipend is in recognition of the Scholar's Electives program's particular needs and does not apply to guest lectures offered in other programs or courses.
- e) Faculty members shall receive a stipend of \$1,000 to supervise a student project in Interdisciplinary Studies 2201F/G or Interdisciplinary Studies 3301F/G/Z.
- f) Faculty members shall receive a stipend of \$1,800 to supervise a student project in Interdisciplinary Studies 4900E.
- 11.22 Stipends for Overnight Community-based Learning (CBL) and Experiential Learning (EL) Projects

The following establishes a framework for acknowledging community-based learning (CBL) or experiential learning (EL) labour that is beyond the regular duties of HUCFA members.

Members leading CBL and EL projects that require travel are eligible for the following stipends, which will be added to the faculty member's Faculty Allowance upon completion of the travel:

- \$600 for a trip requiring 1-2 nights stay away from home.
- \$1200 for a trip requiring 3-6 nights stay away from home.
- \$1800 for a trip requiring 7 nights or more stay away from home.

This amount will increase by the same percentage negotiated for tenure-stream/LTA salary increases in each year of the agreement.

Faculty members joining CBL and EL trips of this kind as secondary supervisors will not be eligible for these stipends.

11.23 Direct Appointments

In the event that an existing Limited-Term Appointment or Program Sessional Appointment is replaced by a Probationary (tenure-stream) Appointment requiring comparable qualifications and expertise as evidenced in the approved job description, the member holding the Limited-Term or Program Sessional Appointment that is being replaced will be duly considered for a Direct Appointment. A Direct Appointment occurs when the tenure-stream members of the program deliberate and decide by majority vote to recommend to the Dean or Provost/Dean that the Limited-Term or Program Sessional member under consideration be offered the probationary position without an open search, and, in turn, the Dean or Provost/Dean, and the President approve the appointment.

11.24 Tenure and Promotion Mentoring

The Dean will meet annually with faculty on probationary contracts to review the process and expectations around tenure and promotion. At this meeting, the Dean will provide guidance to faculty to help them ensure they meet their contractual service, teaching, and research obligations. The Dean will also encourage probationary faculty to apply for tenure and/or promotion at their earliest opportunity provided that the Dean believes such an application will be successful. The Dean will be guided by the relevant Conditions of Appointment Document, the candidate's letter of appointment, and equity considerations in making this assessment.

11.25 Pension Plan for Members of the Academic Staff

Contributions to the Pension Plan shall be by and on behalf of eligible Plan Members as follows:

Huron University College shall contribute 7% of pensionable earnings to the Regular Accounts of Huron University College Academic Employees. In the fourth (4th) year of this agreement starting on May 1, 2026, the Employer shall contribute 8% of pensionable earnings to the Regular Accounts of Huron University College Academic Employees.

Huron University College Academic Employees shall contribute 7.0% of pensionable earnings to the Regular Accounts of Huron University College Academic Employees.

Contributions to the Pension Plan shall cease at the earlier of:

- a) the end of a Plan Member's Phased Retirement period;
- b) the Plan Member's actual retirement date;
- c) the date of termination of a Member's employment, and in any case not later than the end of the Calendar Year in which the Plan Member turns age 71.

12 RESEARCH AND CONFERENCE EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT FUNDS

- 12.1 The Employer shall maintain:
 - a) a FASS/Faculty of Theology research reimbursement fund, and
 - b) a FASS/Faculty of Theology conference reimbursement fund,

to each of which it will contribute each year the equivalent of \$1,000 per Tenure-stream and LTA member. All members, including Program Sessional and Per Course members, are eligible to apply to the fund according to regular collegial processes. This amount shall increase at the same percentage as the agreed upon salary increases to the tenure-stream grids in Year 2 of this Agreement. The amount shall be increased to \$1200 in Year 3 of the Agreement. The amount shall increase again by the same percentage as the agreed-upon salary increases to the tenure-stream grids in Year 4 of the Agreement.

12.2 Starting with the 2023-24 baseline amount of \$30,000, which shall increase in each subsequent year of this Agreement at the same rate as the agreed upon salary increases for tenure-stream/LTA faculty, the Employer shall make a **Targeted Research Fund** of \$30,000 available in each of the years of this Agreement. The intent of this fund is to provide funding for larger-scale projects than those that can be supported through the research and conference expense reimbursement fund.

Applications to the targeted fund shall not be for amounts less than \$3,000 and no more than five grants shall be awarded from the targeted fund in a given year. This fund shall be administered by "The Targeted Research Fund Committee" consisting of the Dean of Theology, the Coordinator of Teaching and Research, who shall serve as the Committee Chair, and two faculty members drawn from the memberships of the FASS and Theology Research Committees. There shall be no carry forward from year to year; however, funds may be available for reimbursement up to 6 months beyond the end of the employer's fiscal year to accommodate approved travel and other such expenses that have been booked but not realized.

12.3 Starting with the 2023-24 baseline amount of \$6,000, which shall increase in each subsequent year of this Agreement at the same rate as the agreed upon salary increases for tenure-stream/LTA faculty, the employer shall make a **Technology Support Fund** available in each of the years of this Agreement. The intent of this fund is to provide support for the extraordinary technological needs of faculty in pursuit of their research and teaching agendas. Applications may not be for less than \$1,000 and no more than four grants will be awarded in a given year. This fund will be administered, and applications will be adjudicated by the Targeted Research Fund Committee. There shall be no carry forward from year to year either in the general unspent Technology Support Fund monies or in individual grants.

13 PERFORMANCE AND SALARY PROCESS

13.1 Faculty Members submit curriculum vitae updates by March 31st; in cases where more information is required, the Dean may at any time, request that departmental Chairpersons conduct Faculty-approved teaching evaluations of specified members of their departments at a time agreeable to all parties.

- 13.2 Salaries for members of HUCFA will be calculated on the basis of the grid outlined in <u>Article 11</u> above and reported to the President of HUCFA.
- 13.3 By June 15th of each year, the Dean of each Faculty will inform each member of that Faculty of the member's grid salary and the Dean's specific salary recommendation.
- 13.4 The Dean will inform each faculty member of the outcome of the Dean's annual evaluation of faculty performance (see <u>APPENDIX C</u>: Standards Document).
- 13.5 The Dean may recommend a salary below the grid salary only on the basis of the following:
 - a) In the case of teaching and student counselling, a level of performance below the minimum acceptable standard over a two-year period as determined by the Dean in consultation with the appropriate Departmental Chair (see APPENDIX C: Standards Document).
 - b) In the case of the combined areas of teaching and student counselling, community service, and scholarship / instructional development, a level of overall performance below a minimum acceptable standard over a three-year period as determined by the Dean in consultation with the appropriate Departmental Chair (see APPENDIX C: Standards Document).
- 13.6 Where possible, the Dean should give faculty members notification in writing one year in advance of possible denial of a step increment or part thereof.
- 13.7 Where a member's performance falls below the standards required for the receipt of a full step increment, any increment included in the previous salary payments, prior to the completion of the Dean's evaluation of faculty performance for that year, will be withdrawn as of the next pay and for the remainder of the salary year. Overpayments will be deducted from subsequent salary payments, on a prorated basis, over the remainder of the salary year.
- 13.8 The foregoing provisions shall not apply to supersede, "red circle" or other such special arrangements made between individual faculty members and Huron University College at the time when the faculty member is laying down an office or position at or in connection with Huron University College.

14 BENEFITS

- 14.1 The Benefits Committee of Huron University College is tasked with the review of the following benefits policies of concern to HUCFA members:
 - a) Post-retirement benefits;
 - b) Better Dental and vision benefits.

The rewriting of these policies will continue to include consultation with HUCFA through its membership on the Benefits Committee.

14.2 Pregnancy Leave

a) Pregnancy leave is granted in accordance with the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act.* 2000.

b) Supplemental Benefit Plan

Members of HUCFA who have worked at Huron University College for at least one year as of probable date of delivery will be entitled to receive 100% of salary for the first two weeks and 95% of salary benefit for 15 weeks, less the Employment Insurance Maternity benefit.

To qualify for this benefit the employee must make application and qualify for Employment Insurance Maternity benefits.

c) Leave in excess of the 17 weeks for medical reasons related directly to an employee's pregnancy and / or delivery of an infant may be treated in accordance with Sick Leave Polic

14.3 Parental/Adoption Leave

a) Parental/Adoption leave is granted in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act, 2000.

A member who becomes a parent of a newborn or newly-adopted child or who takes custody of a child who is being placed for adoption with the member, shall be entitled to Parental / Adoption Leave of up to sixty-one (61) weeks if the member has also taken Pregnancy Leave, or of up to sixty-three (63) weeks otherwise. Such a member shall be granted Parental / Adoption Leave upon notification in writing to her or his Dean, at the earliest opportunity prior to the commencement of the Leave, indicating the approximate date upon which the Leave is to commence. The Parental / Adoption Leave shall commence no later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the day the child is born or first comes into the care or custody of the adoptive parent(s).

b) Supplemental Benefit Plan

A member who has worked at Huron University College for at least one year as of the date of delivery or as of the date the child comes into the custody, care and control of a member, will be entitled to receive 100% of salary less the Employment Insurance Parental benefit for the first two weeks and 95% of salary for up to twenty (20) weeks, for a maximum of up to twenty-two (22) weeks paid Leave, inclusive of any paid Leave received under the terms of the Pregnancy Leave supplemental benefit plan, set out above, if applicable.

To qualify for this benefit the employee must make application and qualify for Employment Insurance Parental benefits.

Supplemental benefits are not available in cases of adoption when an employee establishes a spousal relationship with an individual who already has a child(ren) and subsequently adopts the child(ren).

14.4 General Considerations

- a) Upon return to work, a member who has taken leave(s) under this Article shall resume his or her position with his or her nominal salary plus step increments and benefits.
- b) Pregnancy and Parental / Adoption Leave shall be included in the calculation of a member's length of service.
- c) Nothing in this Article prevents a member from taking Pregnancy or Parental / Adoption Leave during Sabbatical leave. Any unused portion of a Sabbatical leave shall be taken at a time proposed by the member and the Chair. The Dean shall have final approval and shall not unreasonably refuse such a proposal.

14.5 Tenure and Promotion

- a) For members who take Pregnancy or Parental / Adoption Leave, decisions on renewal of probationary contract and tenure and promotion shall be postponed by one (1) year for members who take a leave in excess of twenty-four (24) weeks. When the member is awarded renewal, tenure or promotion, the decision shall be retroactive to the date that this would have been granted if not for the leave. Effective July 1st of the year following the deferral, the member shall be placed on the salary grid at the appropriate step if not for the leave, provided the member is awarded their promotion. That is, they will be appointed to the grid step they would have been at if they had not deferred their application for promotion in accordance with this Article.
- b) Members can elect not to defer any of these processes.

14.6 Healthcare Spending Account for Per-Course Contract Members

Per Course Contract members are eligible for a Healthcare Spending Account against which they may claim their healthcare related expenses. The Employer will credit to each eligible member's Healthcare Spending Account an amount equivalent to seven percent (7%) of their gross salary up to a maximum of \$1,000 per year (August to July). The Healthcare Spending Account is not intended to erode any current or future benefit plans provided to the general membership.

Eligible claims must be made not later than sixty (60) days after the expense has been incurred. Funds in a HCSA may be accessed during the term of active employment.

14.7 Medical Leave

Tenure-stream, LTA, 3 year and no-end Program Sessional Members

- 14.7.1 Members who are absent from work as a result of illness or injury may be eligible to receive paid Medical Leave up to a maximum of seventeen (17) calendar weeks, during any one academic year July 1 to June 30.
- 14.7.2 The medical leave benefit referred to herein shall not accumulate from year to year but will be reinstated as of July 1st of each year.

- 14.7.3 If a member's absence due to illness or injury continues beyond seventeen consecutive calendar weeks (119 consecutive calendar days), the member may be entitled to Long-Term Disability benefits as determined by the benefit provider.
- 14.7.4 In the event that a member exhausts the seventeen (17) weeks of medical leave, and does not qualify for LTD, further medical leave will be unpaid.

Per Course and One (1) Year Sessional Members

- 14.7.5 Members who are absent from work as a result of illness or injury may be eligible to receive paid Medical Leave up to a maximum of eight (8) calendar weeks, to a maximum of four (4) weeks per semester, during any one academic year July 1 to June 30.
- 14.7.6 The medical leave benefit referred to herein shall not accumulate from year to year but will be reinstated as of July 1st of each year.
- 14.7.7 In the event that a member exhausts the eight (8) weeks of medical leave to a maximum of four (4) weeks per semester, further medical leave will be unpaid.

Process

- 14.7.8 A member shall inform their Dean or designate, with a copy to Human Resources, as soon as reasonably possible of their absence due to illness or injury. Notification should be received within 24 hours of the absence and include the expected date of return to work. Any change to the expected date of return to work must be communicated as soon as reasonably possible.
- 14.7.9 When the Dean or designate is informed that a Member will be absent due to illness or injury, the Dean or designate shall make alternative arrangements to cover teaching duties on a temporary basis.
- 14.7.10 The Employer reserves the right to require medical certification completed by the member's licensed health care practitioner of the illness or injury which turns out to be in excess of 5 days. The Employer may request only the information it reasonably requires to adjudicate entitlement to the claimed medical leave benefit, to make arrangements to have the work performed in the member's absence, and, where necessary, to meet its obligations to provide reasonable accommodations upon the member's return to work. The Employer shall reimburse employees for the cost which practitioners may charge for such certification, up to the maximum charges as recommended from time to time by the Ontario Medical Association.
- 14.7.11 Upon return to work, a member who has taken leave(s) under Articles <u>14.7.1</u> <u>14.7.7</u> shall resume their position with their nominal salary plus step increments and benefits.
- 14.7.12 Time spent on Medical Leave shall be included in the calculation of a member's length of service.
- 14.7.13Nothing in this Article prevents a member from taking Medical Leave during Sabbatical

leave. If a Full-Time Member becomes ill or injured while on Sabbatical Leave such that the Sabbatical Leave cannot be completed, the Member may elect to go on Medical Leave. If the remaining part of the Sabbatical exceeds three (3) months, the remaining part of the Sabbatical can be deferred. The scheduling of the deferred period following a return to work shall be determined by mutual agreement between the Member and the Dean.

15 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

General

- 15.1 There shall be no discrimination, harassment or coercion, of any kind, practiced against any person involved in these procedures, or against any employee who elects not to pursue a grievance.
- 15.2 The parties agree to make every reasonable effort to settle all grievances in a prompt, just and equitable manner.
- 15.3 Both parties to this Agreement shall have carriage of their respective grievances and shall deal with only the other party, not individual faculty members, with respect to a grievance.
- 15.4 On request of either HUCFA or the Employer, the other party shall provide access to all non-privileged documents relevant to the grievance to provide for an open, fair and expeditious processing of the grievance.

15.5 Definitions:

- a) Grievance: A grievance is a claim, dispute or complaint involving the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement.
- b) Grievor: The grievor may be either HUCFA or the Employer. HUCFA may initiate a grievance on behalf of a member or group of members or itself. The Employer may initiate a grievance on behalf of the Employer.

15.6 Types of Grievance:

- a) An individual grievance is a grievance initiated by HUCFA on behalf of an individual member:
- b) A group grievance is a grievance initiated by HUCFA on behalf of a group of members;
- A policy grievance is a grievance by HUCFA or the Employer which may involve a matter of general policy or of general application of the Agreement;
- d) An association grievance is a grievance which directly affects HUCFA;
- e) An employer grievance is one initiated with regard to actions taken by a member of HUCFA or by the association as a body.

Time Limits

- 15.7 Either party shall file a grievance according to procedures outlined below under "Grievance Procedure" within thirty (30) working days after the occurrence of the incident giving rise to the grievance, or thirty (30) working days from the date it became aware of the events giving rise to the grievance, whichever is later. During the thirty (30) working day period either party may initiate an informal discussion with the view to resolve the issues without the need to file a formal grievance. The thirty (30) working day period may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 15.8 Where no action is taken on a grievance within the time limits specified in this Article, the grievance shall be deemed to have been withdrawn or settled as the case may be.
- 15.9 In the event a party fails to reply in writing within the time limits prescribed in this Article, the other party may submit the matter to the next step as if a negative reply or denial had been received on the last day for the forwarding of such reply.
- 15.10 The time limits specified in this article may be extended by mutual agreement by the parties. Moreover, an arbitrator shall have the power to waive time limits on any reasonable grounds. The amended time limits must be specified in writing.

Technical Irregularities

15.11 No technical violation or irregularity occasioned by clerical, typographical or technical error in the written specification of the grievance shall prevent the substance of a grievance from being heard and judged on its merits.

15.12 Termination of Employment

- a) In cases involving dismissal for cause, termination of a Program Sessional appointment before it comes to term, failure to renew a Program Sessional appointment after favourable performance reviews and recommendation by the Chair or Coordinator if appropriate and confirmation of program need by the Dean, or termination of a Per-Course Contract appointment before it comes to term, HUCFA shall have the right to take a dispute directly to arbitration.
- b) In cases involving the termination of employment for reasons other than academic ones (teaching, research, service), HUCFA shall have the right to take a dispute directly to arbitration.
- c) In all cases involving dismissal for cause, termination of a Program Sessional appointment before it comes to term, failure to renew a Program Sessional appointment after favourable performance reviews and recommendation by the Chair or Coordinator if appropriate and confirmation of program need by the Dean, or termination of a Per-Course Contract appointment before it comes to term, discipline, or alleged incompetence, the burden of proof shall be on the Employer to establish its case.

16 GRIEVANCE & ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

16.1 A grievance shall be in writing signed by a representative from HUCFA or the Employer and, as the case may be, shall specify the matter(s) in dispute, the article(s) alleged to have been violated, and the remedy sought.

- 16.2 No later than ten (10) working days following the receipt of the grievance, the Employer's representative shall meet with the HUCFA representative. The parties shall make every reasonable attempt to resolve the grievance.
- 16.3 If the grievance is resolved at this stage, such settlement shall be reduced to writing and countersigned by the HUCFA representative and the Employer's representative within ten (10) working days of the meeting at which the settlement was reached.
- 16.4 In the event that the HUCFA representative and the Employer's representative cannot resolve the grievance within ten (10) working days of the meeting(s) specified in Article 16.2, the reasons shall be documented and shared by both parties.
- 16.5 If the grievance is not resolved at the meeting(s) held under <u>Article 16.2</u>, none of the information exchanged during the meeting(s) can be brought forward as evidence in any subsequent arbitration.
- 16.6 Either party may, within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of the response specified in Article 16.4, request in writing that an ad hoc Dispute Resolution Committee be formed and that it hold a dispute resolution committee meeting within thirty (30) days of receipt of this request. The Committee will consist of two persons appointed by the employer, two persons appointed by the President of the Faculty Association, and a fifth person (who will act as chair) appointed by the other four members. The fifth person may be a person who is not a member of the immediate Huron University College community and may be a person who has proven experience of dispute resolution in other contexts.
- 16.7 The purpose of the ad hoc Dispute Resolution Committee is to investigate the possibility of finding a compromise acceptable to both HUCFA and the Employer. The Dispute Resolution Committee shall work as expeditiously as possible to try to resolve the matter. In the event that, after at least one meeting to discuss the grievance, a majority of the ad hoc Dispute Committee members determine that the Dispute Resolution Committee is not likely to find a resolution acceptable to both parties through further discussion, the Chair shall inform the parties in writing that the matter remains un-resolved.
- 16.8 If the grievance is not resolved at the meeting(s) held under <u>Article 16.6</u>, none of the information exchanged during the meeting(s) can be brought forward as evidence in any subsequent arbitration.

Arbitration

- 16.9 Either party may, within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of the written notification or date by which it was to be received as specified in Article 16.7, give written notice of its intention to submit the matter in dispute to an arbitrator for final and binding arbitration.
- 16.10 The arbitrator will be selected by agreement between the two parties.
- 16.11 The arbitrator shall have the duty and power to adjudicate all matters in dispute.
- 16.12 The arbitrator shall proceed with all dispatch with the inquiry into the grievance, and in accordance with such procedures and mode of proof that the arbitrator deems appropriate.

- 16.13 The arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to award such remedy or remedies as the arbitrator deems appropriate; however, the award shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.
- 16.14 Grievances involving the termination of a Program Sessional appointment before it comes to term, failure to renew a Program Sessional appointment after favourable performance reviews and recommendation by the Chair or Coordinator if appropriate and confirmation of Program need by the Dean, or termination of a Per-Course Contract appointment before it comes to term shall be treated as grievances involving dismissal. The arbitrator shall have the power to award reinstatement through issuance of a new equivalent appointment, or in the case of tenure denial to award tenure.
- 16.15 The arbitrator shall not have the power to alter, add to modify, or amend the Agreement in any respect whatsoever.
- 16.16 All arbitration expenses, including the remuneration of the arbitrator, shall be shared equally by both parties, subject to the award of costs by the arbitrator as part of the remedy.

17 FINANCIAL EXIGENCY

- 17.1 Financial exigency is a situation where the institution experiences substantial and recurring losses which threaten the survival of the institution as a whole. For the purpose of this agreement a state of financial exigency shall be a genuine financial crisis affecting the University as a whole as established by generally accepted accounting procedures involving:
 - a) a deficit for more than two years which is projected to continue after economies have been introduced in all sectors of the University budget other than the budget for Faculty salaries; or
 - b) a deficit which constitutes a problem sufficiently grave that the University's continued academic functioning would be in danger unless the budget for salaries and benefits were reduced.
- 17.2 Members may be laid off in accordance with this article only if a state of financial exigency has been declared and confirmed pursuant to the procedures contained in this Article, and then only after reasonable efforts have been undertaken to alleviate the financial exigency by economies in other segments of the budget, and after reasonable means to improve the institution's revenues have been exhausted.
- 17.3 Lay-off pursuant to this Article is not dismissal for cause and shall not be recorded or reported as such.
- 17.4 In the event that the President considers that a state of financial exigency may exist, within the meaning of Article 17.1, the President shall give notice to the Board of Governors, HUCFA and the Academic Council of such belief. As of the date of such notice, the procedures specified in this Article shall apply. As of the date of notice, there shall be an institution-wide hiring freeze with the exception of replacing existing roles deemed necessary for operational requirements. No new positions shall be created.

- 17.5 Within 10 days of giving notice as per <u>Article 17.4</u> the Employer shall forward to HUCFA all relevant financial documentation upon which the President's concerns about a state of financial exigency were based.
- 17.6 Within 15 days of the notice specified in Article 17.4, the parties shall establish a financial commission which shall review all materials it deems relevant to the possible state of financial exigency and report in writing to the employer and HUCFA that the commission determined either:
 - a) a state of financial exigency exists, or
 - b) a state of financial exigency does not exist.
- 17.7 The composition of the financial commission shall be as follows:
 - a) two representatives selected by HUCFA,
 - b) two representatives selected by the Employer, and
 - c) a chair selected unanimously by the four representatives.

None of the above members of the commission shall be a government official.

- 17.8 The financial commission shall be charged with identifying sources of financial difficulty and preparing a written report to the Board of Governors outlining recommendations to alleviate these difficulties. Such recommendations may pertain to the financial management of Huron, new initiatives for increasing revenues, early retirement, redeployment and/or lay-off of members of the Faculty and the staff.
 - The financial commission shall determine its own decision-making procedures consistent with generally recognized principles of natural justice. The cost of the financial commission established under this article shall be borne by the Employer.
- 17.9 The Employer shall cooperate with the financial commission and shall provide all relevant documentation in accordance with Article 17.6.
- 17.10 The financial commission shall invite and consider inter alia submissions on each of the following:
 - a) whether there are substantial and recurring losses which threaten the survival of the institution;
 - b) whether, in view of the primacy of academic goals at the institution, a reduction in the number of academic staff is necessary to effect a cost saving;
 - c) whether every reasonable effort has been made to achieve cost savings in other areas of the institution's budget;

- d) whether every reasonable effort has been made to improve the institution's revenue position by any other means, including borrowing, deficit financing, and the sale of assets not essential to the academic functioning of the institution;
- e) whether every reasonable effort has been made to secure further assistance from government;
- f) whether enrollment projections are consistent with the proposed reduction in the academic staff complement;
- g) whether all reasonable efforts of reducing the academic staff complement have been exhausted, including voluntary early retirement, voluntary resignation, voluntary transfer to reduced time status and voluntary redeployment, and
- h) whatever other matters it considers relevant.

The report of the financial commission shall answer each of (a) through (g) above, and all other matters considered under (h).

- 17.11 The financial commission shall deliver its report to the President, Board of Governors, HUCFA and Academic Council within 90 days of its appointment.
 - a) If the commission verifies that there is a state of financial exigency the report shall specify the recommended amount of reduction required, if any, in the budgetary allocation to salary and benefits for members of the bargaining unit. Any reduction in the budgetary allocation for academic salaries and benefits shall be made conditional upon the further exploration of alternative cost-saving measures by the institution, and the commission shall remain seized of this matter pending the satisfactory exhaustion of all such specified alternatives.
 - b) Whether the commission confirms or rejects the financial exigency, the parties recognize that the commission may also make recommendations regarding any financial problem it deems relevant, provided that such recommendations are consistent with the provisions of the collective agreement.
- 17.12 The Board of Governors shall consider the report from the financial commission and shall vote on whether there is a state of financial exigency. Where the financial commission has rejected the financial exigency, a decision by the Board to declare financial exigency requires a majority vote.

The Board will provide a written rationale to the financial commission regarding the decision to declare financial exigency.

- a) If the Board finds that a state of financial exigency exists, it shall declare a state of financial exigency.
- b) If the Board finds that a state of financial exigency does not exist, there shall be no lay-offs under this Article.

- c) Within 30 days of the Board's decision whether a state of financial exigency exists, the parties shall meet to discuss the implementation of the recommendations outlined in the financial commission's report.
- 17.13 Where the Board confirms that a state of financial exigency exists, the reduction in salaries and benefits of members shall not unreasonably exceed the amount specified pursuant to 17.11(a).
- 17.14 Where a reduction in the academic staff complement is required, layoffs of academic staff may be structured in a manner to allow the University to continue to operate in accordance with its mission. Layoffs may take place either as vertical reductions or across the board cuts, or some combination thereof. A vertical cut may involve full or partial program redundancy.

In either scenario, lay-offs shall take place in the following order:

First: Per Course appointees

Second: One-year Program Sessional or one-year LTA appointees

Third: Multi-year Program Sessional appointees or Multi-year LTA appointees

Fourth: No-end Program Sessional appointees

Fifth: Probationary (Tenure-track) appointees and if necessary,

Sixth: Tenured appointees.

In each of the above categories the layoffs shall be by reverse order of seniority. HUCFA shall be provided with existing current seniority lists within each of the categories. If two (2) or more members have equal seniority, the order of seniority shall be decided by lot.

- 17.15 After the selection of the tenure-stream members who are to be laid off, but prior to the implementation of such layoffs, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to redeploy elsewhere in the institution those tenure-stream members who are to be laid off.
 - a) Members who accept such redeployment in another academic unit shall retain all preexisting employment rights, including salaries, pension and benefits, and credit for sabbaticals.
 - b) Members who accept such redeployment in an administrative position shall receive the salary at the top of the salary scale for that position, provided their existing salary is higher than the top of the applicable salary scale, and retain all pre-existing pension and benefits, and credit for sabbaticals to be applied in the event of a return to a tenure-stream faculty position.
 - c) Members who accept such redeployment shall be given the opportunity to familiarize themselves with their new duties, and the Employer shall pay any related fees while they do so. Members shall have up to six (6) months to familiarize themselves with the duties of the role. Within this six (6) month period, the member may elect to accept a layoff in accordance with this Article.

Notice and termination pay

17.16 Members selected for layoff shall be notified no later than September 30 and layoffs shall take effect on June 30 of the following year. In lieu of notice, the Employer may pay the member's

- full salary and benefits until June 30 or until the end date of the member's contract, whichever is earlier.
- 17.17 In addition to the notice or pay in lieu of notice provided in Article 17.16, the Employer shall pay each member who is laid off or who elects voluntary separation one (1) month's salary per year of service to the university. The minimum payment for years of service shall be six (6) months' salary for Program Sessional or LTA members with contracts of three (3) years or more, and twelve (12) months' salary for tenure-stream members.
- 17.18 The maximum total payment under Article 17.16 and 17.17 together shall not exceed twenty-four (24) months' salary. In no case shall the number of months' salary paid under this Article exceed the number of months remaining in a member's contract or where a member has given notice of retirement, the number of months remaining until the effective retirement date. A Member who has been laid off and who has been recalled shall repay within eighteen (18) months of recall any portion of the compensation specified in this clause which exceeds what the salary would have been had the Member continued to occupy their former position.
- 17.19 Members who are laid off shall retain full access to library and email services for a period of three (3) years following the date of the layoff or separation.
- 17.20 All payments made under Article 17.16 and 17.17 shall be based on the Member's regular salary. Tenure-stream members who had been granted sabbatical leave and are subject to a layoff, shall also have the option of taking their sabbatical in the form of paid leave, commencing on the date when their lay-off is scheduled to begin. Academic staff members who exercise this option shall be treated in all other respects as being laid off within the meaning of this article.
- 17.21 Tenure-stream members who are laid off shall have, for a period of 3 years, a right of first refusal for full-time positions in their former academic unit if applicable, unless the Employer can demonstrate that the position is so specialized that it cannot be filled by the candidate or by a re-arrangement of the duties of other members of the same academic unit. In addition, each tenure-stream member who is laid off shall be considered for any other vacant position in the institution for which they are qualified or for which they may be expected to be qualified within a period of training. Disputes arising out of these recall procedures are referable to the grievance and arbitration process set out in this collective agreement.
- 17.22 A Member being offered recall shall be notified in writing by email and registered mail sent to the Member's last known address. Members who are eligible for recall shall keep the Employer informed of any changes of address. Such changes must be sent in writing.
- 17.23 A Member who is recalled pursuant to this Article shall have up to one (1) month to accept such recall offer and shall take up the offered position as soon as they are able to do so but must do so no later than July 1 when notice is provided between July 1 and March 31 of any given academic year.
- 17.24 A Recalled member returning to service in the institution shall retain all rights and entitlements they held at the time of lay-off. The salary of the recalled member shall be the salary at the time of lay-off increased by any applicable across-the-board or standard increments, not including increments for career development awarded during the period of lay-off unless the member's activities during lay-off warrant payment for career development.

- In cases where a recalled Member had held and is being recalled to a tenure-stream position, the member shall receive the credit they had accrued towards eligibility for a sabbatical leave prior to the layoff, if applicable.
- 17.25 Each member who is recalled to an area or position other than in their original discipline retains the right of first refusal for any opening in their original discipline.
- 17.26 Should a member on the recall list refuse to take a position, their name shall remain on the recall list for positions in their academic unit only.
- 17.27 For purposes of facilitating retraining, laid off Members shall receive full tuition waivers for any course taken at Huron during the recall period. In addition, the dependents of laid off members shall have the same rights to tuition assistance as dependents of active Members.
- 17.28 Until they have secured alternative full-time employment, laid off HUCFA members who pay the premiums shall be provided with all insurance coverage (including life, medical, dental, and disability). Benefit coverage, including eligibility, is subject to the benefit carrier provisions.

18 REDEPLOYMENT AS A RESULT OF THE CLOSURE OR RESTRUCTURING OF ACADEMIC UNITS

18.1 Definitions

- 18.1.1 Redeployment is the reassignment of bargaining unit members from one academic program or unit to a different academic program or unit as a result of a closure or restructuring.
- 18.1.2 Closure is the termination of an academic program or unit for bona fide academic reasons, or for financial reasons, by virtue of a declaration of a program or unit redundancy.
- 18.1.3 Restructuring is the redefinition of assigned workload as a result of the reorganization, amalgamation or merger of one or more academic programs or units.
- 18.1.4 An academic program is a course of study recognized and approved by Academic Council as fulfillment in whole or in part of a degree.

18.2 <u>Procedures for the Closure or Restructuring of Academic Units or Programs for Academic Reasons</u>

- 18.2.1 Closure or Restructuring of an academic unit or program for academic reasons, where such closure or restructuring will lead to a reduction in tenure-stream positions, may be undertaken only after a majority vote of the Academic Council and with the agreement of the Board of Governors.
- 18.2.2 The motion on a program closure or restructuring that is brought to Academic Council will be in the form of a report by the Educational Policy Committee in the case of FASS programs, or Faculty of Theology Committee in the case of Theology programs. It will be brought to Academic Council three months after it is shared with all affected parties,

including HUCFA, to provide adequate time for affected unit(s) to respond to the proposed closure(s) or restructuring.

18.3 <u>Status of Bargaining Unit Members when a Program is Closed or Restructured for Academic Reasons</u>

- 18.3.1 In the event of a program closure or restructuring, all reasonable efforts shall be made to redeploy tenure-stream faculty members to another academic program or unit, or to an administrative position at Huron. A member who is redeployed to an administrative position at Huron will receive the salary at the top of the salary scale for that position, provided their existing salary is higher than the top of the applicable salary scale. Any member who is redeployed to another academic program or unit shall maintain the member's appointment, rank, and compensation, benefits and all other privileges under the Agreement.
- 18.3.2 As an alternative to redeployment a member may elect voluntary separation in accordance with this Article. Where a voluntary retirement incentive program has been negotiated with HUCFA, eligible members may elect retirement under such a program. The details of any voluntary separation or voluntary retirement agreement shall be provided to HUCFA.

18.4 <u>Procedures for the Closure or Restructuring of Academic Units or Programs for Financial Reasons</u>

- 18.4.1 The Parties agree that the primary aims of Huron University are teaching, scholarship and research, and that decisions to restructure or close an academic unit or program for financial reasons will only be made after careful consideration, which will ensure that the University's academic mission remains paramount, particularly with regard to the quality of instruction and research.
- 18.4.2 A program may be closed or restructured for financial reasons only where a program has been found financially unsustainable in accordance with the procedures contained in this Article. In order for a program to be deemed unsustainable, the President must establish that the program is experiencing financial difficulties that are significant and continuing, and that these financial difficulties remain unresolved despite careful long-range planning.
- 18.4.3 Members may be laid off in accordance with this Article only if the financial unsustainability of a program has been confirmed pursuant to the procedures contained in this Article.
- 18.4.4 Lay-off pursuant to this Article is not dismissal for cause, and shall not be recorded or reported as such.
- 18.4.5 If a risk of closure or restructuring of an academic program or unit exists for financial reasons and such closure or restructuring may lead to the layoff of tenure-stream members of the bargaining unit, the President shall inform, in writing, the Academic Council. The information must include a brief that explains the nature of the President's concerns and includes the relevant data or information available to the President. At the

- same time, notice and the relevant data or information must be provided to the Board of Governors, HUCFA, and all Members in the affected program or unit.
- 18.4.6 The Employer and HUCFA will consult for a 6-week period in order to review and consider the President's brief and attempt to identify alternatives to program closure or restructuring.
- 18.4.7 Following this consultation process in Article 18.4.6, HUCFA may provide a report with its recommendations to the President. Should the President deem the program closure or restructuring to be appropriate, the recommendation will be communicated to Academic Council along with the reasons for the President's recommendation and HUCFA's report.
- 18.4.8 Academic Council shall be convened within ten (10) days of the notice of recommendation issued under Article 18.4.7 in order to consider the impact of the proposed closure or restructuring on the academic life of Huron University College. Academic Council shall have an opportunity to provide a formal response to the President's recommendation to the Board of Governors no later than two (2) months from this meeting. Requests for additional information or a follow-up meeting within the two-month time limit shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 18.4.9 Prior to the Board of Governors making a decision regarding program closure or restructuring, HUCFA shall have the right to make a further submission directly to the Board of Governors. The Board shall consider the report and recommendations and shall vote on whether a program will be closed or restructured.

18.5 <u>Status of Bargaining Unit Members when a Program is Closed or Restructured for Financial</u> Reasons

- 18.5.1 In the event of a program closure or restructuring, all reasonable efforts shall be made to redeploy tenure-stream members to another academic program or unit, or to an administrative position at Huron.
- 18.5.2 As an alternative to redeployment a member may elect voluntary separation in accordance with this Article. Where a voluntary retirement incentive program has been negotiated with HUCFA, eligible members may elect retirement under such a program. The details of any voluntary separation or voluntary retirement agreement shall be provided to HUCFA.
- 18.5.3 Any layoffs shall take place as outlined in <u>Articles 18.5.4</u> <u>18.5.5</u>.
- 18.5.4 Where a reduction in the academic staff complement is required, layoffs of members may be structured in a manner to allow the University to continue to operate in accordance with its mission. Layoffs may take place either as vertical reductions or across the board cuts, or some combination thereof. A vertical cut may involve full or partial program redundancy.

In either scenario, lay-offs shall take place in the following order:

First: Per Course appointees

Second: One-year Program Sessional or one-year LTA appointees

Third: Multi-year Program Sessional appointees or Multi-year LTA appointees

Fourth: No-end Program Sessional appointees

Fifth: Probationary (Tenure-track) appointees and if necessary,

Sixth: Tenured appointees.

In each of the above categories the layoffs shall be in reverse order of seniority. HUCFA shall be provided with existing current seniority lists within each of the categories. If two (2) or more members have equal seniority, the order of seniority shall be decided by lot.

- 18.5.5 After the selection of the tenure-stream members who are to be laid off, but prior to the implementation of such layoffs, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to redeploy elsewhere in the institution those tenure-stream members who are to be laid off.
 - Members who accept such redeployment in another academic unit shall retain all pre-existing employment rights, including salaries, pension and benefits, and credit for sabbaticals.
 - b) Members who accept such redeployment in an administrative position shall receive the salary at the top of the salary scale for that position, provided their existing salary is higher than the top of the applicable salary scale, and retain all pre-existing pension and benefits, and credit for sabbaticals to be applied in the event of a return to a tenure-stream faculty position.
 - c) Members who accept such redeployment shall be given the opportunity to familiarize themselves with their new duties, and the Employer shall pay any related fees while they do so. Members shall have up to six (6) months to familiarize themselves with the duties of the role. Within this six (6) month period, the member may elect to accept a layoff in accordance with this Article.

18.6 Notice and termination pay

- 18.6.1 Members selected for layoff shall be notified no later than September 30 and layoffs shall take effect on June 30 of the following year. In lieu of notice, the Employer may pay the member's full salary and benefits until June 30 or until the end date of the member's contract, whichever is earlier.
- 18.6.2 In addition to the notice or pay in lieu of notice provided in Article 18.6.1, the Employer shall pay each member who is laid off or who elects voluntary separation one (1) month's salary per year of service to the university. The minimum payment for years of service shall be six (6) months' salary for Program Sessional or LTA members with contracts of three (3) years or more, and twelve (12) months' salary for tenure-stream members.
- 18.6.3 The maximum total payment under <u>Articles 18.6.1</u> and <u>18.6.2</u> together shall be twenty-four (24) months' salary. In no case shall the number of months' salary paid under this

Article exceed the number of months remaining in a member's contract or where a member has given notice of retirement, the number of months remaining until the effective retirement date. A Member who has been laid off and who has been recalled, shall repay within eighteen (18) months of recall any portion of the compensation specified in this clause which exceeds what the salary would have been had the Member continued to occupy their former position.

- 18.6.4 Members who are laid off shall retain full access to library and email services for a period of three (3) years following the date of the layoff or separation.
- 18.6.5 All payments made under <u>Articles 18.6.1</u> and <u>18.6.2</u> shall be based on the Member's regular salary. Tenure-stream members who had been granted sabbatical leave and are subject to a layoff, shall also have the option of taking their sabbatical in the form of paid leave, commencing on the date when their lay-off is scheduled to begin. Academic staff members who exercise this option shall be treated in all other respects as being laid off within the meaning of this article.
- 18.6.6 Tenure-stream members who are laid off shall have, for a period of 3 years, a right of first refusal for full-time positions in their former academic unit if applicable, unless the Employer can demonstrate that the position is so specialized that it cannot be filled by the candidate or by a re-arrangement of the duties of other members of the same academic unit. In addition, each tenure-stream member who is laid off shall be considered for any other vacant position in the institution for which they are qualified or for which they may be expected to be qualified within a period of training. Disputes arising out of these recall procedures are referable to the grievance and arbitration process set out in this collective agreement.
- 18.6.7 A Member being offered recall shall be notified in writing by email and registered mail sent to the Member's last known address. Members who are eligible for recall shall keep the Employer informed of any changes of address. Such changes must be sent in writing.
- 18.6.8 A Member who is recalled pursuant to this Article shall have up to one (1) month to accept such recall offer and shall take up the offered position as soon as they are able to do so, but must do so no later than July 1 when notice is provided between July 1 and March 31 of any given academic year.
- 18.6.9 A Recalled member returning to service in the institution shall retain all rights and entitlements they held at the time of lay-off. The salary of the recalled member shall be the salary at the time of lay-off increased by any applicable across-the-board or standard increments, not including increments for career development awarded during the period of lay-off unless the member's activities during lay-off warrant payment for career development.
 - In cases where a recalled Member had held and is being recalled to a tenure-stream position, the member shall receive the credit they had accrued towards eligibility for a sabbatical leave prior to the layoff, if applicable.
- 18.6.10 Each member who is recalled to an area or position other than in their original discipline retains the right of first refusal for any opening in their original discipline.

- 18.6.11 Should a member on the recall list refuse to take a position, their name shall remain on the recall list for positions in their academic unit only.
- 18.6.12 For purposes of facilitating retraining, laid off Members shall receive full tuition waivers for any course taken at Huron during the recall period. In addition, the dependents of laid off members shall have the same rights to tuition assistance as dependents of active Members.
- 18.6.13 Until they have secured alternative full-time employment, laid off HUCFA members who pay the premiums shall be provided with all insurance coverage (including life, medical, dental, and disability). Benefit coverage, including eligibility, is subject to the benefit carrier provisions.

SIGNATURE PAGE

SIGNED AT	_ this	day of	_, 2024
FOR THE EMPLOYER		FOR HUCFA	
	-		
	-		
	-		
	-		

A request for a signed copy of the Collective Agreement can be directed to the HUCFA Executive or Human Resources.

APPENDIX A - HURON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS POLICY

1. Definitions

- 1.1. Intellectual property means any result of intellectual or artistic activity created by a faculty member that can be owned by a person. Intellectual property includes, but is not limited to: inventions, publications, computer software, works of visual art and music, industrial and artistic designs, plant cultivars, integrated circuit topography as well as all other creations that can be protected under patent, copyright, trademark or other statutory means.
- 1.2. Commercialization means any activity relating to the protection, use, sale, transfer, license, marketing, duplication, or other disposition of Intellectual Property for commercial purposes.
- 1.3. Employer, for the purposes of this policy, means Huron University College.
- 1.4. Faculty member, for the purposes of this policy, means a member of the Huron University College Faculty Association.

2. Intellectual Property

- 2.1. The Executive Board of Huron University College and the Huron University College Faculty Association recognize that the common good of society depends upon the unfettered search for knowledge in all fields of study and upon its free exposition.
- 2.2. In order that the faculty member retains control over the direction, integrity and use of his or her scholarly work, as a general principle, ownership of all types of intellectual property shall rest with the faculty member who creates it. Such ownership is recognized as an integral part of academic freedom. Notwithstanding the above, Intellectual Property that is developed as a result of a contractual relationship other than Employee/Employer, shall be considered to be owned by those parties to the contract. (See Special Conditions of Ownership).
- 2.3. No Faculty member shall be obliged to engage in the commercial exploitation of his or her scholarly work, nor to provide commercial justification for it.
- 2.4. The Administration of Huron University College shall not enter into any agreement with a third party (including an agreement to administer funds) that alters or abridges, or has the effect of altering or abridging, the intellectual property rights of a Faculty member under this agreement.
- 2.5. In the event that the Canadian *Copyright Act* or *Patent Act* or other similar intellectual property legislation is amended to the extent that this policy requires revision, the parties shall re-open this policy.

3. Special Conditions of Ownership

3.1. It is recognized that the Faculty Member may create Intellectual Property in collaboration with other Faculty members, or in collaboration with other non-faculty employees of the Huron University College community or with individuals not associated with the Employer.

- 3.2. Where a Faculty member undertakes Research where it is envisaged that the creation of Intellectual Property might occur, and does so in collaboration with other non-faculty employees of the University community, the Faculty member shall, at the outset of the Research, establish in writing, and with the agreement of the collaborator(s) and the Employer, how the ownership of any Intellectual Property, and any Net Income generated therefrom, would be shared between them, taking into consideration each party's obligations to the Employer and/or others.
- 3.3. Where a Faculty member undertakes Research that leads to the creation of Intellectual Property that was not envisaged, and does so in collaboration with other non-faculty employees of the University community, the Faculty member shall establish, in writing and with the agreement of the collaborator(s) and the Employer, how the ownership of the Intellectual Property, and any Net Income generated therefrom, will be shared between them, taking into consideration each party's obligations to the Employer and/or others.
- 3.4. In the event that the ownership rights of intellectual property become a matter of dispute, the matter shall first be attempted to be resolved internally between the parties. Where there is no resolution the matter may be submitted to mediation before an individual experienced in such matters and mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Faculty Association and other parties with a vested interest.
- 3.5. Where the Faculty member has assigned his or her ownership rights in the Intellectual property to Huron University College, the Intellectual property is then owned by Huron University College.
- 3.6. Where the Intellectual Property is developed in the course of research sponsored by a third party pursuant to a written agreement between the third party and Huron University College on behalf of the Faculty member, ownership and publishing rights are determined by specific terms of the agreement.

4. Right to Publish

- 4.1. The University is an open environment for the pursuit of scholarly work. Academic freedom and critical inquiry depend on the communication of the findings and results of intellectual investigation. The Administration of Huron University College shall not interfere with a Faculty member's freedom to publish the results of scholarly inquiry and research, except for limitations imposed by duly constituted research ethics boards.
- 4.2. The Administration of Huron University College shall refuse to enter into or administer any research agreement or grant that allows the funders or other third party to infringe on Faculty members' freedom to publish the results of research, except in extraordinary circumstances where, to protect by statute intellectual property, a maximum publication delay of two months from the conclusion of a research project may be accepted.

5. Obligation to Disclose Risks and Threats

5.1. Faculty members shall have an absolute right publically to disclose information about risks and threats (known or suspected) to research participants or to the general public or threats to the public interest that become known in the course of their research.

6. Copyright

- 6.1. Copyright applies to all original literary, dramatic, artistic and musical works as well as sound and video recordings, performer's performances and communication signals.
- 6.2. Works include but are not limited to: books, texts, articles, monographs, glossaries, bibliographies, cartographic materials, modular posters, study guides, laboratory manuals, correspondence course packages, interactive textbooks, course work delivered on the Internet, multimedia instructional packages, syllabi, tests and work papers, lectures, musical and/or dramatic compositions, choreographic works, performers' performances, unpublished scripts, films, filmstrips, charts, transparencies, other visual aids, video and audio tapes and cassettes, computer programs, live video and audio broadcasts, programmed instructional materials, drawings, paintings, sculptures, photographs, and other works of art.
- 6.3. All copyright belongs to the Faculty member or members who create the work even if it is produced during the course of employment and with the use of the College's facilities and resources, except in those cases where there is a written contract to the contrary which assigns the copyright in another form.
- 6.4. The Huron University College Faculty Association shall be a party to all negotiations in the cases in which there is a written contract assigning the copyright of the work created by a Faculty member to the College.
- 6.5. No contract or written agreement between the Administration of Huron University College and a Faculty member shall contain a clause waiving moral rights⁴.
- 6.6. In the event that an original work is the creation of more than one Faculty member, the provisions of this policy apply on a pro rata basis to all the creators of the work.
- 6.7. In the event that the Administration or assignee relinquishes the rights in any work, all intellectual property rights shall revert back to the first owner. In the event that the first owner is deceased, the rights shall revert to the estate of the first owner.

7. Patents

7.1. The discovery of patentable inventions is not a basic purpose of university research, nor is it a condition for support of such research. The Administration of Huron University College agrees that the Faculty member shall have no obligation to seek patent protection for the results of scientific or other work or to modify research to enhance patentability. The Administration of Huron University College further agrees that the faculty member has the unqualified right to publish his or her inventions.

⁴ Moral rights include the rights of a creator to be identified with a work, to maintain the integrity of a work and their honor and reputation with respect to the work

- 7.2. Faculty members are the owners of the intellectual property rights in any invention, improvement, design or development that they create in the course of their employment even if it was produced with the College's facilities and resources, except in those cases where there is a written contract to the contrary which assigns the property in another form.
- 7.3. The Huron University College Faculty Association shall be a party to all negotiations in the cases in which there is a written contract assigning the property or work created by a faculty member to the College.
 - In the event that an invention, improvement, design or development is the creation of more than one Faculty member, the provisions of this policy apply on a pro rata basis to all the Faculty members who are creators of the work.
- 7.4. In the event that the Administration of Huron University College or assignee relinquishes the rights in any work, all intellectual property rights shall revert back to the first owner. In the event that the first owner is deceased, the rights shall revert to the estate of the first owner.
- 7.5. The Administration of Huron University College has no claim to the revenue arising from any invention, improvement, design or development made by Faculty members without the use of the College's time, resources, or facilities.
- 7.6. Should the Administration of Huron University College have a valid claim on the revenue arising from any invention, improvement, design or development because of the use of the College's time, resources or facilities by the Faculty member, the Faculty member and the Administration shall share in the net revenues arising from a discovery on a fair and reasonable basis. "Net revenues" means the revenues after deduction of all costs incurred by the Faculty member and/or the College for patent searches, for obtaining patent protection, for maintaining such protection in Canada and other countries and for commercializing the discovery.

APPENDIX B - HURON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE ACADEMIC FREEDOM POLICY

ISSUED: October 12, 1996 REVISED: March 26, 2010

- Huron University College serves the common good of society, through the pursuit of knowledge
 and understanding, the dissemination of research findings, and by fostering independent thinking
 and expression among students and faculty. These ends cannot be achieved without academic
 freedom. All faculty members have the right to academic freedom.
- 2. Academic freedom includes the right, without restriction by prescribed doctrine, to freedom of teaching and discussion; freedom in carrying out research and disseminating and publishing the results thereof with the understanding that such freedom shall be exercised in accordance with the Tri-Council Policy on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans; freedom inproducing and performing creative works; freedom to engage in service to the institution and the community; freedom to express freely one's opinion about the institution, its administration, or the system in which one works; freedom from institutional censorship; freedom to acquire, preserve, and provide access to documentary material in all formats; and freedom to participate in professional and representative academic bodies.
- Academic freedom does not require neutrality on the part of the individual. Academic freedom
 makes intellectual discourse, critique, and commitment possible. All faculty members have the
 right to fulfill their functions without reprisal or repression by the employer, the state, or any other
 source.
- 4. All faculty members have the right to freedom of thought, conscience, religion, expression, assembly, and association and the right to liberty and security of the person and freedom of movement. Faculty members must not be hindered or impeded in exercising their civil rights as citizens, including the right to contribute to social change through the free expression of opinion on matters of public interest. Faculty members must not suffer any institutional penalties because of the exercise of such rights. Such rights do not, however, include the right of the individual faculty member to speak on behalf of Huron University College unless authorized in accordance with the College's Media Relations Policy.
- 5. The principle and practice of collegial governance is essential for the exercise of academic freedom within Huron University College. Faculty members are entitled to have representatives on and to participate in college governing bodies in accordance with their role in the fulfillment of the Huron's academic and educational mission. Academic freedom means that on academic matters, including curriculum, assessment procedures and standards, appointment, tenure and promotion, and other matters relating to teaching and research, elected faculty members shall constitute at least a majority on committees or college governing bodies responsible for academic policies.
- 6. The College's institutional right to be self-determining and self-governing shall not take precedence over an individual's academic freedom. Any claim by the Administration at Huron University College that this institutional right takes priority over the academic freedom of individuals represents a form of institutional censorship.

<u>APPENDIX C - STANDARDS DOCUMENT</u>

Report of the Standards Committee Issued: May 1, 1990

PREAMBLE

Schedule A of the Agreement between the Huron University College Faculty Association and Huron University College Executive Board, May 1, 1990 to June 30, 1993 (hereafter referred to as the Agreement), described the composition and responsibilities of an ad hoc Committee to establish the standards to be applied in the implementation of Sections 2.iv and 3.iv of the Agreement 1990-1993. The Committee ("the Standards Committee") was comprised of the following members:

Trish Fulton, Acting Dean of Arts and Social Science;

Russell Hatton, Dean of Theology;

Anthony Willing, faculty member appointed by the Principal;

Dermot McCarthy, faculty member appointed by the Principal;

Doug Leighton, faculty member elected by the Huron College Faculty Association (HCFA); Nelson Heapy, faculty member elected by the Huron College Faculty Association (HCFA).

1. MANDATE

According to Schedule A of the Agreement, the Standards Committee is to establish:

- a) the "minimum acceptable standard" of performance in teaching and student counselling;
- b) the "overall minimum acceptable standard" in the combined performance areas of teaching and student counseling, community service, and scholarship/instructional development; and
- c) "above average" performance standards for each of the three performance categories.

It must be understood that the application of these standards is strictly limited. The standards and any procedures described in the Report are not to be used for any purpose other than that of determining eligibility for salary increments as described in the Agreement; furthermore, the standards and any procedures described in this Report expire with the expiry date of the Agreement.

2. CONSULTATION

The Committee adopted as its goal a set of standards and procedures which will be helpful and acceptable to all faculty and members of the Huron University College, and which will be flexible enough to acknowledge the variety, scope and quality of the contributions made by members of different disciplines and faculties.

The Committee felt that it was important to develop an instrument suited to the specific character of Huron University College but also thought that information on standards and procedures used elsewhere might be helpful. After a review of relevant materials obtained from a selection of appropriate institutions throughout Ontario and, to a lesser extent the United States, it appears that, while other institutions require faculty members to submit annual reports concerning academic and related activities, evaluations of the type which we are contemplating are generally conducted only for appointment, promotion and tenure decisions and/or in relation to some form of "merit" pay increments. Although faculty performance is generally assessed for

other purposes at other institutions, our survey did provide us with a considerable amount of information regarding the types of activities which are evaluated under the general headings of teaching, community service and scholarship. This information is reflected in the lists of activities developed by the Committee (see Appendix A, Value Assignment Chart).

3. RECOMMENDATIONS CONCERNING PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The Standards Committee considered performance evaluation schemes which incorporated a great deal of discretion. In such schemes, the person assessing the performance is asked to label an individual's performance in a category with terms like "satisfactory", "inadequate", and "excellent". One obvious disadvantage of such schemes is that the level of performance associated with each of the labels is often unclear, leaving the individual faculty member poorly informed of specific expectations concerning his or her performance. Another drawback is that different assessors may have different ideas about what constitutes a satisfactory performance in a category. This can lead to inconsistencies in the way the same person is assessed over time.

Consequently, it is the view of the Standards Committee that a hybrid scheme with both a numerical component and a discretionary component is the best instrument for evaluating faculty performance between and across all disciplines and faculties at the College as demanded by the Agreement. The numerical component allows for a straightforward computation of individual performance ratings in the three categories of "Teaching/Student Counselling", "Scholarship/Instructional Development", and "Community Service" (see Appendix A, Value Assignment Chart). But in each performance category there is an entry listed as "Other", with no specific value assigned, which represents the Committee's view that no list of achievementtypes could identify or anticipate the full range of creditable activities and contributions made by faculty at the College. The "Other" category allows discretion to be used by a Dean to the benefit of a faculty member, when a case can be made that the pre-assigned value of an activity is inappropriate in light of specific information about an event, or when a faculty member is deemed to have achieved credit through some particular activity or contribution not identified on the Value Assignment Chart. In each performance category, the achievement "Other" permits additional points to be credited, at the discretion of the Dean, after consultation with the faculty member involved and the member's Chairperson.

In developing the scheme, the Committee had to interpret the terms "minimum acceptable standard" overall minimum acceptable standard", and "above average performance standards" as they appear in the Agreement. It should be clear from the above that while the Committee is proposing a scheme which has a numerical component, the Committee does not believe that such a scheme is anything more than a blunt albeit convenient measuring rod. Therefore, the Committee did not adopt a strictly numerical interpretation of the terms "minimum" and "average".

The Committee members agreed that a minimum acceptable standard of performance at Huron University College is a level of performance which, when assessed by one's peers, would be a matter of indifference of unambiguous neutrality. The inclination would be to give an evaluation of that level of performance which was neither a negative comment nor a positive comment. A person performing at this level would be considered competent, nothing more, and nothing less.

The original Committee proposed that the number scale up to the number 5be used in all three performance categories. The "minimum acceptable standard" of performance, in each category, was associated with the, number 3 on this scale, and the committee assigned the values on the Value Assignment Chart such that a 3 is earned by a level of performance which should elicit neither criticism nor special recognition. In any category, levels of performance associated with values greater than 3 therefore elicit a non-neutral response: that is, they should be considered to represent something more than competence and thus to denote a level of performance which Is "above-average." In the area of teaching/student counseling, the number 3.0 was with reference to a 5-point scale used to evaluate teaching effectiveness.

The Committee recognized the special status assigned to teaching at Huron University College. The Agreement states "Where a faculty member's performance in the area of teaching and student counseling falls below the minimum acceptable standard, the faculty member will be disqualified from receiving one-half of any applicable grid step increment." (Section 3.1.12.b). The Agreement also states "above-average performance in one area may offset a below-minimum standard of performance in another, excepting that of teaching and student counseling where below-minimum standards of performance will disqualify faculty members one-quarter of their grid step increment." (Section 3.1.12.c).

The importance attached to teaching is reflected in the role played by the actual score on student evaluations in this proposal. The "minimum acceptable standard" proposed in the area of teaching and student counseling in the original Standards Report was an average score of 3.0 on the student evaluations over a two-year period. Once Huron adopted a teaching evaluation instrument using a 7- point scale, the "minimum acceptable standard" is an average score of 4.2 on the student evaluations over a two-year period.

The Agreement indicates that a longer time horizon should be used to assess scholarship. The Committee's proposal reflects this in the Scholarship/Instructional Development category (see Appendix A, Value Assignment Chart) where three years is the assessment period for activities in these categories.

The Committee suggests that a faculty member on sabbatical leave in a given year be assigned the value 3 for Teaching/Student Counseling and the value 3 for Community Service for that year.

Lastly, the Committee proposed that the "overall minimum acceptable standard" should be the sum of the minimum scores allowed in the three performance categories, or 9 (now 10.2 with the current teaching evaluation instrument).

The Standards Committee recommends the following:

a) that the Dean of Arts and Social Science and the Dean of Theology use a numerical scale (with 0.5 being the lowest and 5 being the highest ratings possible) to evaluate faculty in the categories of performance: scholarship/instructional development; community service; that the Dean of Arts and Social Science and the Dean of Theology use a numerical scale (with 0.5 being the lowest and 6.2 being the highest) to evaluate faculty in the category of teaching/student counseling;

- b) that in a case where the Dean determines, on the basis of the Value Assignment Chart (see Appendix A to this Standards document), that a faculty member's score in the category of teaching/student counseling is 4.2 or higher, and in each of the other two categories is 3 higher, the faculty member will be regarded as having achieved the "minimum acceptable standard" of performance called for by the Agreement (Section 3.1.12.a);
- c) that in the area of teaching and student counseling, the "minimum acceptable standard" called for by the Agreement (Section 3.1.12.b) be that associated with an average of 4.2 based on the actual scores on student evaluations of teaching effectiveness over a two-year period;
- d) that in the case where a Dean determines, on the basis of the Value Assignment Chart, that the Faculty member's score in teaching falls below 4.2, or in one or more of the other two categories falls below 3,
 - i) the Dean will arrange an interview with the faculty member and the member's Chairperson as soon as feasible: (in what follows, it is understood that in the Faculty of Theology where there are no department chairpersons, the interview will be between the Dean and the faculty member);
 - (1) to draw to the attention of the faculty member the fact that the score(s) is (ore) below 3; and
 - (2) to allow the faculty member and chairperson the opportunity to provide any further information that they deem relevant to the assessment of the faculty member's performance in any of the three categories; and
 - ii) in consultation with the Department Chairperson, the Dean will then review the initial assignment of scores and make any revisions that are deemed appropriate in the light of any new information acquired in the interview with the faculty member and Chairperson. If revisions are made, and the revised score in the teaching category is 4.2 or higher, and in the other two categories is 3 or higher, the faculty member will be regarded as having achieved the "overall minimum acceptable standard" of performance. If no revisions are made, or if revisions are made but still leave the faculty member with a score of less than 3 in one or both of community service and scholarship/instructional development, but a score of 4.2 or more in teaching/student counseling, the faculty member will be regarded as having achieved the "overall minimum acceptable standard "of performance if and only if the sum of the scores in the three categories is 10.2or higher.
- e) that in implementing Section 3.1.1 2 of the Agreement
 - i) the Dean will take the average of the scores on teaching evaluations achieved by a faculty member in each of the previous two years. If this average is less than 4.2, the level of performance in "Teaching/Student Counselling" will be deemed to be "below the minimum acceptable standard over a two-year period".
 - ii) the Dean will take the average of the score in the: Community Service category in the: current year and the previous two years. The Deans will take the average of the score in Teaching/Student Counselling in the current and previous two, years. These two

averages will be added to the score in Scholarship/Instructional Development. If this sum is less than 10.2 the faculty member's overall performance is deemed to be below "an overall minimum acceptable standard" of performance over a three-year period.

APPENDIX A to the Standards Document

Value Assignment Chart

Category	Achievement Type	Value
Teaching	Student Evaluations ¹	actual score 2
Student Counselling	Teaching course in new area ³	.5 max = 0.5
	Development of new teaching	.5 max = 0.5
	aid/instruction manual 4	
	Independent student course/reading	.5 max = 0.5
	Course/undergraduate thesis	.5 max = 0.5
	Supervision	.5 max = 0.5
	Teaching Award	.5 max = 0.5
	Other	Undef.
	SUM IN THIS CATEGORY	(Max. is 6.2)
Scholarship/	Book accepted ⁵	5.0
Instructional Dev't	Article accepted ⁶	4.0
IIIStructional Devi	presentation of unpublished	4.0
	refereed paper/invited lecture/	
	solicited paper ⁷	3.0
	Commentator/discussant/chair at	1.0 max= 2.0
	Conference	1.0 max- 2.0
	Presentation of unpublished un-refereed	2.0
	paper ⁸	2.0
	Minor publications (notes. reviews etc.)	1.0 max=2.0
	Attendance at conference 9	0.5 max = 1.5
	External research grant/fellowship	3.0 max = 3.0
	Editorial/refereeing services	1.0max = 2.0
	Development of new teaching	3.0 max = 3.0
	aid/instruction manual 10	
	Graduate thesis supervision and examining	O.S max = O.S
	SUM IN THIS CATEGORY 11	(Max. is5)
Community Service	Chair of Department	4.0
Community Service	Member of one College Committee 12	
	9	3.0
	Member of additional committee 12	O.5 max = 2.0
	Administrative contribution(s) to	O.5 max = 2.0
	professional organization(s) ¹³	O.5 max = 2.0
	Contributions to non-scholarly	U.5 IIIaX = 2.0
	group/program ¹⁴	Undof
	Other	Undef.
	SUM IN THIS CATEGORY	(Max. is 5)

Notes to the Value Assignment Chart

- 1. "Student evaluations" refers to the formal student evaluations conducted in accordance with the regulations of the Huron University College Supervision and Assessment Document.
- 2. The "actual score' for student evaluations is the mean of all the responses to question number 8 on the official Huron University College student evaluation forms.
- 3. This type of achievement includes only cases in which, in a given year, a faculty member teaches a course that involves substantial new research.
- 4. External assessment of the aid/manual or evidence of its implementation in a course must be provided. As indicated on the Value Assignment Chart, this achievement may be used either in Teaching/Student Counselling or in Scholarship/Instructional Development but not in both.
- 5. One must provide evidence of final acceptance for publication -not merely acceptance subject to revisions. This activity may include creative writing such as a novel, collection of poetry or short stories, etc.
- 6. One must provide evidence of final acceptance for publication -not merely of acceptance subject to revisions. If one has more than one article accepted for publication in a given year, the achievement is assigned the maximum value of 5.
- 7. If more than one unpublished refereed paper, invited lecture or solicited paper is given, the maximum of 5 is given if and only if the items are substantially different in content.
- 8. A copy of the paper given must be available. Credit to a maximum of 5for additional papers requires that the papers be substantially different in content.
- 9. The conference attended must be one for which no other points have been assigned (e.g. For being a commentator, discussant, or chair of a session).
- 10. See Note 4 above. The faculty member may list this achievement in either the Teaching / Student Counselling category, or in the Scholarship/Instruction Development category; however, the decision as to whether such an aid or manual receives a value of 0.5In the teaching category or of 3 In the scholarship category rests with the Dean who will consult with the appropriate chairperson in the case of a members of FASS.
- 11. In this category, any instance of an achievement during the three years up to and including the year of assessment is counted.
- 12. This includes elected or appointed membership on standing or ad hoc committees of a department or the College or UWO Senate. However, membership on the following Committees does not qualify for points: Nominating Committee, the Admissions Appeals Committee, the Honorary Fellows Committee, the Admissions Committee (for the Faculty of Arts and Social Science), the Occupational Health and Safety Committee, the Residence Consultative Council, or any other Committee which meets infrequently and/or whose requirements of its members clearly do not rate the achievement of the "minimum acceptable standard". If a faculty member

in the Faculty of Arts and Social Science finds that by virtue of the operation of the "stack" he or she is without any duties on a standing committee or a& a representative to some other body, the Dean will determine the precise reason for that member's situation in this area of performance. If appropriate, a score of 3 may be awarded.

- 13. Included in this type of achievement is election or appointment to the executive of a professional organization; service on behalf of a professional or scholarly association (e.g. planning a conference, seminar, workshop); adjudication of scholarship/fellowship applications, etc. (for institutions other than Huron University College); other contributions.
- 14. Credit under this achievement type is restricted to instances in which a faculty member is officially representing the College or acting in his or her capacity as a professional academic. This type of achievement includes a reading, performance, guests lecture, sermon, speech to a non-scholarly group; contributions to the media (published or broadcast); non-profit consulting for a non-scholarly group; planning or involvement in continuing education or an outreach program (provided that such involvement is not part of one's normal teaching or administrative responsibilities); other contributions.

<u>APPENDIX D – SALARY LEVEL OF NEW PROBATIONARY, TENURED AND LTA FACULTY – EXPERIENCE CREDITS</u>

- 1. The following outlines the determination of experience credits for the purposes of grid placement of new Probationary, Tenured and LTA faculty appointees. If the calculated experience credits exceed the ceiling for the appointed rank, the appointee will be placed at the ceiling.
- 2. A rank above that of Assistant Professor will only be granted upon initial appointment in the instance of a lateral move, i.e. where the candidate has already held a position of that rank at another university. Candidates whose career advancement warrants it may be eligible to apply for promotion as early as their first year of employment at Huron, which will be stipulated in their letter of offer.
- 3. 1.0 = one (1) step on the grid above the Assistant Professor base. Step 8 of the Assistant grid and Step 1 of the Associate grid are counted as a single step for the purposes of calculation. Increments of 0.5 or greater will be rounded up.
- 4. Years of Experience Factor and Credit

Probationary, tenured, LTA faculty duties or

equivalent 1.0 per year

Huron Program Sessional duties or equivalent

(e.g. full-time Lecturer) 1.0 per year

Per Course/Adjunct/Limited Duties or

Equivalent Total Full Course Equivalent /4

Post-doctoral fellow or full-time researcher 0.5 per year

Post Master's/Professional Degree or

Professional Designation full-time work related to position 0.5 per year

- 5. In exceptional circumstances, the parties agree that initial appointees may be placed at a higher grid step than stipulated in the above formula in accordance with the following criteria:
 - i. In instances where an initial Huron appointee demonstrates an offer from another university with which the Employer wishes to compete
 - ii. In instances where the Employer wishes to compete with the salary that an initial Huron appointee currently earns at another university
- 6. The criteria set out in Appendix D, clause 5 do not supersede the obligations or stipulations outlined in Article 11 of the Collective Agreement, which indicate that employees will be compensated in relation to the agreed upon grids and the conditions applying to those grids. As such, no appointee hired according to the exceptional circumstances outlined in Appendix D, clause 5 will exceed the ceiling of the grid of the appointed rank.
- 7. The Employer will notify HUCFA in writing outlining the terms of appointment, the name of the candidate, and the rationale for any hires made under the conditions of Appendix D clause 5.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is adopted to outline the terms of reference for five projects that will begin upon the ratification of the 2023-2027 Collective Agreement. This MOU will remain in effect for the life of this Collective Agreement.

- 1. Following in the spirit of the MOU proposed at the bargaining table on April 23, 2023, over the course of this Collective Agreement, the Employer commits to a net increase of 6 more faculty offices before September 1, 2023 and 14 more faculty offices before September 1, 2024. Additionally, pending the ability to fund a major renovation of the existing Dining Hall, the Employer will create a further 4-5 faculty offices in 2025-2026 or 2026-2027. The Employer will also continue to allocate \$25,000 annually to refresh faculty offices.
- 2. The Employer will hire a mutually agreed upon third party to conduct an Equitable Compensation Study to be completed no later than January 31, 2025. In addition to selecting the third party to conduct the study, a committee comprised of two HUCFA members and two Employer delegates will determine the study's scope, taking into consideration HUCFA's goals as expressed at the bargaining table, and similar studies at King's University College and Western University. The committee's composition and processes shall promote full participation of equity-deserving groups. The committee shall be appointed no later than February 15, 2024. All results and conclusions of the study will be shared with the HUCFA Executive Committee and the Employer.
- 3. HUCFA and the Employer agree with the objective of maintaining class sizes and formats that are conducive to pedagogical soundness. Faculty members teaching courses with significant grading requirements may submit a request for grading assistance to the Employer through the Dean and Provost. The Dean and Provost will determine what grading assistance may be provided from the annual institutional grading assistance budget. The process according to which it will be allocated, and the criteria that is used to determine allocations, will be communicated to all members of the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences and the Faculty of Theology. At the end of each fiscal year, the annual budget and amount of money spent on grading assistance will also be shared with the HUCFA Executive.
- 4. HUCFA and the Employer agree that the Benefits Committee of Huron University College will investigate options for introducing post-retirement benefits for faculty members. The Committee will report back to HUCFA no later than January 15, 2025.
- 5. HUCFA and the Employer agree that an equitable, diverse, and inclusive workplace is a core value that is mutually shared. Indigenization of the University is another. The parties agree to strike a working group (sub-committee of the EDI Committee) comprised of two HUCFA members and two Employer delegates to ensure that the unique working conditions of faculty members from equity-deserving groups are recognized. The working group's composition and processes shall promote full participation of equity-deserving groups. The proposals HUCFA made during bargaining will be considered as a starting point for the work of the group. The working group will continue for the life of this Collective Agreement, reporting annually to HUCFA and the Employer, and developing recommendations for language to be added to the Collective Agreement when it is next negotiated.

Program Sessional Grid Step Conversion

The grid step conversion for existing Program Sessional members is as follows:

Current Grid Step According to 2019-2023 Collective Agreement	Grid Step in Year 1 of 2023- 2027 Collective Agreement
(current as of August 1, 2023)	
1	1
2	1
3	2
4	2
5	3
6	3
7	4
8	4
9	5
10	5
11	6
12	6
13	7
14	7
15	8
16	8

In no case, as a result of the revised grids, will a member's salary be reduced.

Program Sessional grid step progression

In the event that an existing Program Sessional member completes their PhD after their initial appointment, upon degree completion the member will be awarded one additional step increment.

Initial Grid Step Placement

The Dean, in order to assign an initial grid step to Per Course and Program Sessional appointees, will invite appointees to submit all relevant information. In particular, the Dean will invite appointees to provide the following information, as applicable:

- i. teaching experience as calculated in full-course equivalents;
- ii. Post Master's/Professional Degree or Professional Designation full-time work related to position
- iii. experience as post-doctoral fellow or full-time researcher.

The Dean, in order to assign an initial grid step to LTA/tenure-stream appointees, will invite appointees to submit all relevant information as referenced in Appendix D.